Lindenwood University

Digital Commons@Lindenwood University

Dissertations

Theses & Dissertations

7-2023

Moving Forward with Music to Promote Student Growth: A Mixed Methods Study with 9th-Grade Algebra 1 Students

Willie Mae Dean

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lindenwood.edu/dissertations

Part of the Education Commons

Moving Forward with Music to Promote Student Growth:

A Mixed Methods Study with 9th-Grade

Algebra 1 Students

by

Willie Mae Dean

July 26, 2023

A Dissertation submitted to the Education Faculty of Lindenwood University in

partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education

School of Education

Moving Forward with Music to Promote Student Growth:

A Mixed Methods Study with 9th-Grade

Algebra 1 Students

by

Willie Mae Dean

This Dissertation has been approved as partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education

Lindenwood University, School of Education

Dr. Shelly Fransen, Dissertation Chair

ana Bourisaw, Committee Member

Mith

Dr. Kathy Smith, Committee Member

07/26/2023 Date

_07/26/2023 Date

07/26/2023 Date

Declaration of Originality

I do hereby declare and attest to the fact that this is an original study based solely upon my own scholarly work at Lindenwood University and that I have not submitted it for any other college or university course or degree.

Full Legal Name: Willie Mae Dean

Signature: <u>Willie Mae Nea</u> Date: <u>07/26/2023</u>

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to thank my God and Savior for his continuous love that strengthens me daily. Words cannot express my gratitude to my "Blessing," Dr. Shelly Fransen, the chair of my committee for her invaluable patience and feedback. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Diana Bourisaw and Dr. Kathy Smith, for providing their knowledge and expertise.

I would be remiss in not mentioning my family, especially my beautiful daughters Chandra King, Toni Fall, and Vernesha Brown, who always gave me support. The love of my life, Byron D. Strong, was always supportive and loving throughout my educational journey. My aunt Antoinette Edwards for the motivational support. My entire family, the Dean's and McGee's for their belief in me.

I dedicate my Doctoral Degree to my mother, Louise Dean Griffin. She always believed in me and inspired me to do my best. I love you, Mama.

Abstract

The purpose of this mixed methods study was to investigate what effect music had on student achievement and student behavior during independent practice time for 9th-grade Algebra 1 students. Benchmark assessments from the participating district, a focus group of six students, and four in-person teacher interviews provided the data for this study. The beginning-of-year Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessment was used as a baseline for the study. Algebra 1 teachers were asked to participate in one of three ways, to play teacher-selected music, to allow students to listen to their own music, or allow no music to be played during independent practice. The middle-of-year Galileo assessment was used to determine student growth for the study. An ANOVA was performed, and no significant difference was found between the three groups. A student focus group was used to gather student perceptions of the experience and focused on the impact the implementation of background music being played during independent practice had on their learning. A key theme discovered from the student focus group was that students wanted a voice and a choice in their learning experience. Additionally, the study examined how teachers viewed the behavior of their Algebra 1 students after the implementation of background music. A key theme identified amongst teachers and students both was that a process for selecting and listening to the background music needed to be in place and provided to students to minimize classroom distraction.

Key Terms

Music in the classroom

Algebra and Music

Music and student behavior

Student choice

Student voice

Acknowledgmentsii
Abstractiii
Key Termsiv
Table of Contents
List of Tables x
List of Figures xi
Chapter One: Introduction 1
Background of the Study1
Theoretical Framework 4
Statement of the Problem
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses7
Significance of the Study
Definition of Key Terms9
District Benchmark9
Delimitations, Limitations, and Assumptions9
Time Frame
Location of the Study9
Sample9
Criteria 10
Sample Demographics
Instrument 10

Table of Contents

Self-reported Data	10
Summary	10
Chapter Two: Review of Literature	12
Theoretical Framework	12
Cognitive Behavioral Theory	14
Social Cognitive Theory	14
Music in the Classroom	15
Student Behaviors in the Classroom	17
Student Factors	19
Teacher Factors	19
Environmental/Societal Factors	19
The Effects Music Has on Classroom Behavior	20
Math and Music	22
Professional Development	23
Student Assessments	24
Galileo	28
Northwest Evaluation Association (NWEA)	30
Summary	31
Chapter Three: Methodology	32
Problem and Purpose Overview	32
Research Questions and Hypotheses	33
Research Design	34
Population and Sample	35

Instrumentation	36
Quantitative	36
Qualitative	36
Reliability -Validity	36
Data Collection	37
Data Analysis	38
Ethical Considerations	40
Summary	40
Chapter Four: Analysis of Data	42
Quantitative Data	42
_ ANOVA Analysis	45
Qualitative Data	46
Focus Group Discussion	47
Focus Group Discussion Question 1	47
Focus Group Discussion Question 2	48
Focus Group Discussion Question 3	50
Focus Group Discussion Question 4	54
Focus Group Discussion Question 5	57
Teacher Interviews	59
Teacher Interview Question 1	59
Teacher Interview Question 2	61
Teacher Interview Question 3	62
Teacher Interview Question 4	64

Teacher-selected music during independent practice
Student-selected music during independent practice
No music at all during independent practice
Teacher Interview Question 5
Teacher Interview Question 670
Teacher Interview Question 771
Summary
Chapter Five: Conclusions and Implications74
Findings74
Quantitative74
Qualitative74
Focus Group Discussion75
Teacher Interviews
Conclusions
Theme 1
Theme 2
Theme 3
Theme 4
Theme 5
Theme 6
Implications for Practice
Teachers Need to Find Ways to Incorporate Music in the Classroom 94
Students Need to Feel They Have a Voice in the Classroom

Teachers Need to Have a Clear Process.	
Recommendations for Future Research	
Summary	
References	
Appendix A	116
Appendix B	117
Appendix C	
Appendix D	
Appendix E	123
Appendix F	127
Appendix G	128
Appendix H	129
Appendix I	
Vita	

List of Tables

Table 1. Wiliam and Thompson Categories of Formative Assessment4
Table 2. Characteristics of Formative and Summative Assessments 27
Table 3. Types of Music Student Focus Group Members Felt Enhanced Their Learning

List of Figures

Figure 1. Galileo Scores for Teacher-Selected Music	
Figure 2. Galileo Scores for Student-Selected Music	
Figure 3. Galileo Scores for Class with No Music	46

Chapter One: Introduction

Schools across the United States reported low Algebra 1 achievement scores on benchmark assessments (Allensworth et at., 2013; Cadorna et al., 2021; Fong et al., 2016; Lailiyah et al., 2018; Nomi et at., 2021). Cadorna et al. (2021) suggested that Algebraic concepts are crucial components of Mathematics. Students are not mastering the mathematical concepts required for Algebra 1, such as reasoning and problem-solving skills. (Lailiyah et al., 2018; Loehr et al., 2018; Nomi et at., 2021). Algebra is critical to comprehending and appreciating key concepts and principles employed in real-life problem-solving, communication, reasoning, making connections, representations, and judgments utilizing suitable technology (Cadorna et al., 2021; Loehr et al., 2018).

Chapter One will include the background of the study and the conceptual framework. Also included in Chapter One will be the statement of the problem, the purpose of the study, and the research questions. Finally, the significance of the study, the definition of key terms, and the delimitations, limitations, and assumptions will be described.

Background of the Study

Standardized testing emerged in the United States educational system in 1838 (National Education Association, 2020). The innovative methods provided a foundation for the formal assessments of student achievement (National Education Association, 2020). Formal and summative assessments are two types of assessments most generally utilized in all school systems across America to assess the learning of state standards and new materials (Dixson & Worrell, 2016). According to Johnson and Jenkins (2009):

Formative assessments are commonly referred to as assessments for learning, in which the focus is on monitoring student response to and progress with

instruction. Formative assessments provide immediate feedback to both teacher and student regarding the learning process. Summative assessment is commonly referred to as an assessment of learning, in which the focus is on determining what the student has learned at the end of a unit of instruction or at the end of a grade level (e.g., through grade-level, standardized assessments). Summative assessment helps determine to what extent the instructional and learning goals have been met. (How Outcomes Inform Instruction and Educational Practices section)

Assessments are one of the most critical functions for supporting learning within the educational system (Wiliam, 2000; Taras, 2008). Properly implemented assessments within a classroom can provide data to improve pedagogical practices and instructional outcomes (Asghar, 2013; Dunn & Mulvenon, 2009; Wininger, 2005).

Harlen and James (1997) described the differences between formative and summative assessments by suggesting that the characteristics of formative assessments are:

- It is essentially positive in intent, in that directed towards promoting learning; it is therefore part of teaching;
- It takes into account the progress of each individual, the effort put in and other aspects of learning which may be unspecified in the curriculum; in other words, it is purely criterion-referenced.
- It has to take into several instances in which certain skills and ideas are used and there will be inconsistencies as well as patterns in behavior; such inconsistencies would be 'error' in summative evaluation, but in formative evaluation, they provide diagnostic information;

- Validity and usefulness are paramount in formative assessment and should take precedence over concerns for reliability;
- Even more than assessment for other purposes, formative assessment requires that pupils have a central part in it; pupils have to be active in their own learning (teachers cannot learn for them) and unless they come to understand their own strengths and weaknesses, and how they might deal with then, they will not make progress.

In contrast, the characteristics of summative assessment are:

- It takes place at a certain interval when achievement has to be reported;
- It relates progression in learning against public criteria;
- The results for different pupils may be combined for various purposes because they are based on the same criteria;
- It requires methods which are as reliable as possible without endangering validity;
- It involves some quality assurance procedures;
- It should be based on evidence from the full range of performance relevant to the criteria being used (pp. 372-373)

Garrison and Ehringhaus (2007) identified several examples of summative assessments that were used at the district and classroom levels. The list consisted of:

- State assessments
- District benchmark or interim assessments
- End-of-unit- or chapter test
- End-of-term or semester exam

• Scores that are used for accountability for schools (AYP) and students (report card grades) (Garrison & Ehringhaus, 2007, para. 4)

Wiliam (2006) described formative assessments in three categories in terms of learning needs based on types, focus, and lengths to adjust and better meet the learning needs of students (see Table 1).

Table 1

Туре	Focus	Length
Long-cycle	Between instructional units	Four weeks to one year or more
Medium-cycle	Between lessons	One day to two weeks
Short-cycle	Within a single lesson	Five seconds to one hour

Wiliam and Thompson Categories of Formative Assessments

Note. This table was based on Table 2 Cycle times for formative assessments (Wiliam & Thompson, 2008, p. 26).

Theoretical Framework

Valamis (2022) defined cognitive learning as "an active style of learning that focuses on helping you learn how to maximize your brain's potential" (para. 1). Western Governors University (2020) stated, "The theory of cognitive learning asks learners to look at thinking and mental processes, and how cognitive thinking can be influenced by external and internal factors" (para. 4). According to Padgett (2020), cognitive learning theory is largely based on the works of Jean Piaget, who rejected the idea that learners are passive and simply react to stimuli in the environment. Instead of focusing solely on observable behavior, cognitive theory seeks to explain how the mind works during the learning process (Padgett, 2020, para. 5). Cognitive learning theory is based on the understanding that everyone thinks differently, and no one learns in the same manner. Brown (2019) reported cognitive learning theory is comprised of two further cognitive theories of learning: "cognitive behavioral theory (CBT) and the social cognitive theory (SCT)" (para. 4). Western Governors University (2020) described SCT as "The idea that learning happens in a social context and is impacted by the person, environment, and behavior" and CBT as "The idea that how we think, how we feel, and how we behave are directly connected together" (paras. 5-6). Threadgold et al. (2019) acknowledged, "Background music is an environmental stimulus known to influence cognitive performance" (para. 1). The approach of utilizing cognitive learning theory as a theoretical framework provides a connection of how music within the classroom could have an impact on student learning.

Statement of the Problem

School districts across the country are having issues with high school students passing Algebra 1 assessments (Anderson, 2014; Nauer et al., 2015). Nauer et al. (2015), reported:

Every year, thousands of New York City students find themselves taking and retaking aspects of algebra in order to graduate. Both the course and the exam have been deemed too important to fail. But plenty of kids do—too often, repeatedly. It's a phenomenon some educators call the "algebra whirlpool." (para. 2).

Anderson (2014) revealed, "82% of the high school students in a suburban county fail their Algebra 1 final exams" (para. 1). Anderson (2014) also discovered, "Overall, 3,713 of 4,545 high school students failed the Algebra 1 exam in the Montgomery County public school system, according to county records" (Anderson, 2014, para. 4) This supporting research prompted concerns for students' performance on the Algebra 1 exam. According to Ojaleye and Awofala (2018), "The poor performance is not unconnected to errors committed by students while trying to solve problems on algebra. Students often commit both procedural and conceptual errors when solving problems on algebra" (p. 486). Krishnan (2020) determined, "Math and music are two entirely different fields of study, but there is a strong correlation between them" (para. 1). This study may show a connection between music and student growth in the area of math. Holmes and Hallam (2017), stated, "Music psychologists have established that some forms of musical activity improve intellectual performance, spatial-temporal reasoning, and other skills advantageous for learning" (p. 425). The implementation of music during independent practice may determine how much influence teacher-selected music, studentselected music, or no music has on student perception of their learning, teacher perception of behavior, and overall academic achievement.

Previous research has proven the relationship between music and math (Gabb & Zuk, 2017). Gabb and Zuk (2017) also suggested, "Students who are musically trained have been observed to have higher mathematics grades and standardized test scores, compared with students who have not studied music" (para. 2). When teachers integrate music and mathematics, students become aware of the power of math in the music-making process. (An et al., 2013). According to Maas (2013), "Many students enjoy listening to music while doing their homework" (p. 5). This research will provide students an opportunity to voice their feelings regarding the impact music has on learning.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is to examine the influence of music on student academic achievement, and student perceptions of the effect music has on their performance on Algebra I benchmark tests. This study will also review teacher perceptions of students 'behavior in Algebra I class. Data will be obtained from the participating district's benchmark assessments, one student focus group, and four inperson teacher interviews. The results of this study may suggest that music has a positive impact on 9th-grade students' Benchmark assessment in Algebra I.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The following research questions and hypotheses guided the study:

1. What is the difference in student growth on the Galileo Algebra 1benchmark assessments between 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to their preference in music, 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to music selected by the instructor, and 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to no music at all?

2. What are Algebra 1 students 'perceptions regarding the effects of listening to their own selected music has on their academic performance in 9th-grade Algebra 1 class?

3. What are teachers 'perceptions of students 'behaviors after the implementation of student-selected music, teacher-selected music, or no music at all?

 $H1_{0:}$ There is no difference in student growth on the Galileo Algebra 1benchmark assessments between 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to their preference in music, 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to music selected by the instructor, and 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to no music at all.

 $H1_a$: There is a difference in student growth on the Galileo Algebra 1benchmark assessments between 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to their preference in music, 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to music selected by the instructor, and 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to no music at all.

Significance of the Study

The significance of this study is to explore how educators can use music to support students' learning in math (Roldan Roa et al., 2020, p. 1). Edelson and Johnson (2004) deducted:

by integrating mathematics and music, teachers will be able to help children achieve national and state learning standards in mathematics as well as in creative arts. Teachers can use music to enhance children's pleasure and understanding of difficult mathematics concepts and skills. (para. 1)

Argabright (2005) determined, 'When other curricular areas are integrated with music, learning in these areas becomes more meaningful for students. Classroom teachers often use music as a "connector" in their teaching because they have found music as an invaluable teaching tool" (para. 3). Pogue (2018) noted, "Music is a universal language, and it is important to understand how it can help children learn" (p. 3).

Edwards (2019) stated, "In considering the needs of students, researching, and discussing multiple types of pedagogical tools such as the incorporation of music into a content-specific curriculum is necessary for the amelioration of differentiation and cross-curricular planning" (para. 5). Mayes (2018) found, "after looking at the problems and opportunities for improvements, and intervention was designed to incorporate music into the core curriculum in hopes of increasing student test scores, mastery of skills, and increase student knowledge" (para. 4). White (2007) believed the results from the study of background music being implemented in a classroom setting during independent practices would be of great value to all educators. The use of background music could also promote student learning in such ways as positive student performance and behaviors, increased student test scores, and higher student motivation levels.

According to Atilgan (2021) "The relationship between music and math and the impact of math on music is perceived as important and frequently researched by many researchers" (p. 3296). Ross (2022) reported, "background music in the classroom has passed many tests for efficacy regarding promoting learning" (para. 4); while de la Mora Velasco and Hirumi (2020) argued "that there is still a lack of available studies from researchers to determine how background music might have a positive or negative effect on learning" (p. 2826). This research gives students a voice in their learning using background music during independent practice and engages them in their learning.

Definition of Key Terms

For the purposes of this study, the following terms are defined:

District Benchmark

A district benchmark is a benchmark exam given across many classes, an entire grade level, a whole school, or across a district. The purpose of a benchmark exam is to understand if students have mastered specific standards and are ready to move on (Moody, 2020).

Delimitations, Limitations, and Assumptions

The scope of the study was bounded by the following delimitations:

Time Frame

This study was conducted during the fall of 2021.

Location of the Study

This study took place in a suburban district of St. Louis, Missouri.

Sample

The sample for this study included both Algebra 1 students and Algebra 1 teachers and student participants that qualified for this research were 9th-grade Algebra 1

students. The adults that qualified were Algebra 1 teachers certified by the Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.

Criteria

The criteria for student participation was that students were in the 9th grade. The criteria for the teachers were that they were certified by the Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education and that the researcher was not a co-teacher in the selected classroom.

The following limitations were identified in this study:

Sample Demographics

The sample was limited to one grade level, one subject, and one building in a suburban district in Missouri.

Instrument

The interview instrument and the focus group instrument might be considered a limitation because both sets of questions were researcher-created.

Self-reported Data

The data received from the focus group and the interviews relied on participants accurately reporting their responses.

The following assumptions were accepted:

- 1. The responses of the participants were offered honestly and willingly.
- 2. The sample was representative of the general population of MO DESEcertified Algebra 1 teachers and 9th-grade Algebra 1 students.

Summary

Chapter One included a historical synopsis of formative and summative assessments. The conceptual framework of cognitive learning theory was introduced.

Also introduced in Chapter One were the statement of the problem, the purpose of the study, and the research questions and hypotheses. The significance of the study and the definition of key terms were provided. Finally, the delimitations, limitations, and assumptions were described.

Chapter Two will include a review of the current literature. The conceptual framework will be further described. The topics of music in the classroom, student assessments, student behavior, and the effect music has on student behavior will be investigated.

Chapter Two: Review of Literature

This review of literature contains current research on the effects music has on student learning. The literature review is an important piece of this study because it allows for the triangulation of data when answering the research questions of this study. Several topics will be covered, all selected specifically to address the research questions.

Chapter Two will include a further investigation of cognitive learning theory. Other topics will include music in the classroom and student assessments, including Galileo and NWEA. Finally, student behaviors in the classroom and the effect music has on classroom behavior will be presented.

Theoretical Framework

Cognitive learning theories hold a unique place in history: they explore the depths of the mind from the perspective of process (Grider, 1993, p. 1). According to Yilmaz (2011), "familiarity with subject matter is not enough for teachers to engage in effective and pedagogically meaningful instructional practices" (para. 2). Boyes (2013) stated,

Cognitive learning theory regards learning as the thought process of a student in an individual situation, subject to the influences of that particular environment. The student first connects to their own experience and prior knowledge, then works in reverse to ascertain the theories and principles that contribute to that truth. (para. 15)

Burney (2008) reported, "In the social cognitive model there are the elements of human agency and perceived self-efficacy that contribute to cognitive development and performance" (para. 1). Brown (2019) pointed out:

Cognitive behavioral theory refers to the role of cognition in the behavioral pattern of individuals. By formulating self-concepts of the individual's own

accord, their behavior is directly affected. The concepts can be based on extrinsic or intrinsic factors, both positive or negative. (para. 6)

Academy of Mine (2022) suggested "Cognitive Learning Theory is a more active approach to learning, where learners' answers are not just judged by correctness, but also on how a learner arrives at their answer" (para 3).

Mandi (2021) indicated that the fundamental aspects of cognitive learning are comprehension, memory, and application. For cognitive learning to be efficient and benefit students, they should understand the reason why they are learning the specific subject in the first place (Indeed Editorial Team, 2022). The cramming of information is discouraged in cognitive learning (Barany, 2019). Cramming is described as ineffective in education (Grade Power, 2017). Wenk (2017) suggested that relying on memory provides a deeper understanding of the subject and fosters the ability to relate to new knowledge with previous experiences or information.

Students being able to apply cognitive learning strategies helps develop problemsolving skills to be utilized in real-life situations and learning topics (Valamis, 2022). To maximize student achievement Western Governors University (2020) suggested the following cognitive learning strategies be utilized:

- 1. Asking questions. Students asking questions for an opportunity to dive deeper into meaning.
- 2. Having opportunities to make errors. Teachers provide hands-on problems to give students the opportunity to make mistakes and learn from them.
- 3. Fostering self-reflection/self-questioning. Teachers provide opportunities for students to understand their mental processes and think about their thinking.

4. Thinking aloud. Teacher model how they process and work out their problems and give the students the same opportunities. (para. 7)

Celiköz et al. (2016) held the view that "cognitive processes and activities such as processing information, mental representation, guesses and expectations are accepted to be a basis in the interpretation of learning" (p. 31).

Cognitive Behavioral Theory

Cognitive behavioral theory (CBT) refers to one's mental process and how they may interpret life events (James, 2011). Cognitive behavioral theory explains how a person interacts with another through thoughts, feelings, and behavior (PsychologyTools, 2022). When individuals are processing a thought, it could lead to an emotion, which then will turn into a specific behavior (How Emotions Affect Behavior, 2016). Stanger (2022) suggested that individuals changing their behaviors may also lead to changes in their feelings and thoughts.

Social Cognitive Theory

Social cognitive theory provides an understanding of how individuals are influenced by each other or their environment (LaMarte, 2019). Stone (2017) indicated that observational learning is one of the main components of social cognitive theory. Nickerson (2023) added that observational learning is a process where individuals learn wanted and unwanted behaviors. Cherry (2022) found that in social cognitive theory models are known to be quick ways of acquiring information. A model can be a teacher, peers, or people in your community that influence an observer's behavior (Valamis, 2022). Bandura (1989) the founder of social cognitive theory noted, "Modeling influences can convey rules generative and innovative behaviors as well" (p. 25). Cognitive learning theories will provide a solid framework for this investigation. The current literature will provide a solid foundation for the link between cognitive learning theories and each topic of the literature review. The first topic presented will be music in the classroom.

Music in the Classroom

Music was introduced in the classroom by educators for the first time in 1930 as a tool to aid learners to increase student engagement (Sigman, 2005). DiDomenico (2017) pointed out that integrating music correctly in the classroom environment enhances students' engagement, environment, learning, and development. Bokiev et al. (2018) claimed teachers use music to communicate, explore, and create a culture of learning conducive to student achievement.

Music in education can affect cognitive performance on certain, task complexity and independence of task, but has been shown to improve performance on easy tasks (Wilson, 2018). Alexander (2022) implied when it comes to music selections, *music matters;* students perform differently to calming music than to music they perceive to be aggressive. Brewer (1995) revealed, "Music will activate students mentally, physically, and emotionally and create learning states which enhances understanding of learning material" (Active Learning Experience section).

Connelly (2019) investigated students in a reading course listening to Western music at a Japanese university. Connelly (2019) investigated the effect of students listening to Western music in the classroom on communicative ability and motivation. Connelly (2019) determined that the majority of students developed a newfound interest in English and displayed greater levels of motivation throughout the course. The use of music in the classroom has also shown a reduction in anxiety and increased motivation. Sigman (2005) argued that there are no changes in concentration when high school students listen to background music while completing in-class assignments. When it came to listening to music in the classroom, Barile (2022) believed silence was golden. Barlie (2022) considered researchers supporting ideas of increased concentration in students who listened to music in the classroom irrelevant (Barlie, 2022).

When it comes to the effects of background music in the classroom Stegemiller (2012) believed that "research shows that music can improve performance, learning, and emotional states of people" (para. 1). Fletcher (2014) revealed, "MRIs of a patient listening to music show that music "lights up" the entire brain, which connects to or evokes positive feelings" (para. 9). Schlichting and Brown (1970) concluded that because music may excite emotions in one person but not in another, and because the same person may respond differently at different times, it should not be expected that all students will enjoy the music and give a better performance all the time.

Teachers being able to choose background music that is culturally relevant and interesting to students, will not only increase their engagement, but it will also make them feel seen (Berry, 2022). Koolidge and Holmes (2018) investigated the effects of background music on children's puzzle assembly and determined, "background music without distracting lyrics may be beneficial and superior to background music with lyrics for young children's cognitive performance even when they are engaged independently in a nonverbal task" (Abstract section). Mohan and Thomas (2020) explored and discovered that "there is a plethora of research assessing the effects of background music on task performance; however, these results have largely been inconclusive and divided" (Abstract section). Alegria (2017) affirmed, "music is one tool engage each student and provide a pathway for connections and deeper understanding" (para. 5). Barnes (2020) stated, "researchers have found that music can have a profound effect on brain activity to increase certain neuro-connections as well as enhance brain activity" (para. 4). Able (2020) reported, "music activates both the left and right brain at the same time, and the activation of both hemispheres maximizes learning and improves, memory" (para. 3). Lehmann and Seufert (2017) determined there was "a significant interaction between listening to background music and working memory capacity" (p. 8).

Student Behaviors in the Classroom

Students' misbehaviors are often defined as those behaviors which interfere with the teaching and learning process in the classroom environment (Erdem & Kocyigit, 2019; Johnson et al., 2019). Johnson et al. (2019) believed, "There are few attempts, if any, have sought to inductively examine the reasons that underlie the existence and occurrence of student's misbehavior in the classroom" (p. 2). Future research is needed to explore and consider the practical implications of understanding behavior and how to support positive student behaviors and mitigate negative student behaviors (Johnson et al., 2019; Sun & Shek, 2012). Evaluating an individual's perception of students to understand specific behaviors is common practice (Johnson et al., 2019). Miller and Poston (2020) stated, "How we perceive others can be improved by developing better listening and empathetic skills, becoming aware of stereotypes and prejudice, developing self-awareness through self-reflection and engaging in perception checking" (para. 1).

Educators have found that there are several classroom disruptions dealing with student behaviors that may limit or prevent the delivery of classroom instruction (Joslyn

et al., 2019). Some of a teacher's daily disruptions consist of student misbehaviors such as:

- 1. Defiance of classroom rules Defiance, disruptive talking, and bullying.
- 2. Feelings of resentment The student not knowing, avoid of work, or wanting to learn the content and not wanting a certain teacher to teach them.
- Acting out throwing things, tapping, yelling, rudeness to the teacher, and fighting.
- Cheating copying off other students and the internet when completing assignments and taking tests.
- 5. Truancy- skipping class, and tardiness.

These disruptions are some of the most pressing concerns in the classroom today (Aelterman et al., 2019; Sun & Shek, 2012). There are many issues that may cause students to disrupt the classroom setting (Yussif, 2021). One reason for students' misbehaviors is students not understanding the curriculum (Erdem & Kocyigit, 2019). Music is one tool that can be utilized to manage classroom behaviors; according to Bucher (2019), "Students are less likely to be a behavioral problem in the classroom when they are interested in the material, and constantly "doing" instead of listening to a teacher talk at them" (p. 19).

Shamnadh and Anzari (2019) provided three principal factors that cause students to misbehave in the classroom. Those factors included the student, the teacher, and the society (Shamnadh & Anzari, 2019). Using those three factors, Yussif (2019) proposed nine reasons why students misbehave.

Student Factors

- 1. **Impulsivity:** A student reacts to a situation without thought. Personality is a factor in the student's actions.
- 2. **Personal skill deficiency:** A student lacks the personal skills that allow them to cope with their environment or others in their environment.
- **3.** Belief deficiency: A student believes that education or subject matter is not important and disrupts class because of their belief. (Student Factors section)

Teacher Factors

- Failure to teach effectively: The teacher does not have effective classroom management or lesson plans for students to achieve their educational and emotional needs within the classroom setting.
- 2. **Inaccurate expectations:** The teacher wants students to believe what they are teaching just because they said it with no inquiry from the student. Some teachers like to blame outside factors such as the parents of the students for their misbehavior instead of trying to find a solution for the student behavior.
- 3. **Inaccurate judgment:** Teachers passing wrong judgments on students' behaviors. Instead of teachers giving students the time to make the right choices. (Teacher Factors section)

Environmental/Societal Factors

- 1. **Family:** The student's family social status and environment could affect a student's behavior.
- 2. **Sociability:** The students wanting to interact with other students during instruction could lead then to misbehaving.

3. **Other responsibilities/works:** Some students have other responsibilities outside of school such as work or taking care of other siblings that may cause them to misbehave. (Environmental/Societal Factors section)

The Effects Music Has on Classroom Behavior

Hallam and Price (1998) discovered, "The effects of music on the moods, emotions and behavior of both individuals and groups noted throughout history" (para. 1). Järvelä (2018) explained, "Music is a sound that is recognized by hair cells in the inner ear. The sounds are transmitted as electrical signals through the midbrain to the auditory cortex and other parts in the brain" (para. 2). According to Savan (2009):

Previous research has shown that background music has an effect on certain phycological and biochemical pathways in pupils with special educational needs and emotional behavioral difficulties. When background music is played during practical lessons, pupils become better coordinated and their behavior improves. (p. 1029)

Strachan (2015) believed, "If music alters brain waves to prepare the brain for learning, the application of music could be useful in a variety of settings with learners of many ages" (p. 7). Schwartz et al. (2017) suggested, "Music may be effective in stimulating a person to respond to simple and repetitive tasks rather than complex tasks" (p. 8). Jamshidzad et al. (2018) suggested, "A music pulse can affect the intellectual and behavioral rhythmicity of the human brain. As manipulation of background music is relatively simple it can be used to change behavior" (para. 4).

Du et al. (2020) acknowledged, "Background music provides a unique window into how the brain works when music and cognitive tasks are presented simultaneously" (para. 2). Lemaire (2020) found that background music being presented within a classroom setting for a group of students' cognitive performances may have diverse effects according to individual's differences. Du, et al. (2020) noted:

Some behavioral studies have shown that reading comprehension can be improved using background music, such as Mozart's music, highly repetitive music with a narrow tonal range and songs. In contrast, with other studies have shown negative effects of background music on reading comprehension using hiphop music, UK garage-style music, slow- tempo music by Bach, fast and loud music, familiar non lyrical music, and songs as background music. The discrepancy between these behavioral studies could be due to the differences in music and listeners. Indeed, the effects of background music on reading comprehension depends on music selection, music characteristics, and lyrics. On the other hand, some individual factors, such as musical preferences and music expertise, have been suggested to influence the effects of background music. (para. 2)

Kiss and Linnell (2021) were the first to conduct a study on preferred background music on attentional states by collecting subjective reports as behavioral measures of performance reaction time. They concluded, "Importantly, listening to preferred background music was found to increase task-focus and decrease mind wondering states on low demanding sustained-attention task although it did not affect overall reaction time" (p. 2323). Current and past research of background music has been found to have pedagogical implications (Van Horn, 2020). Studies have shown that students find music to be an important part of their classroom learning experience (Van Horn, 2020).

Math and Music

When it comes to music and math Church (2001) proclaimed that there is a magical bond between the two,

Music and math seem to create a connection between the two hemispheres of the brain. Music is considered a right- brain activity, while math is a left-brain activity. When combined, the whole child is engaged not only in the realm of thinking but in all the other domains of social-emotional, creative, language and physical development. Music and math: Together they make a complete developmental package. (para 3)

Mayes (2018) supported aligning music and math curriculum across disciplines. More importantly Mayes (2018) felt teaching music and math simultaneously would increase student learning. Roldán Roa et al. (2020) called attention to the fact that,

Educational research argues that traditional teaching approaches and instructional methods for mathematics curricula do not have a positive impact on students. On the contrary, learning experiences that are not based on traditional teaching approaches for mathematics curricula can contribute to bridging the achievement gap and reducing mathematical anxiety. (para, 2)

Santos-Luiz (2007) supported the theory of "mathematical concepts forming part of the music world. Through that connection, it is possible to establish a positive correlation between participation/performance in music and cognitive development in mathematics" (para,1). Civil (2007) concluded that "the project suggested the validity of the theory because when math and music were combined in my classroom the students exhibited higher achievement" (pp. 36–37).
Professional Development

Darling-Hammond et al. (2017) defined effective professional development as "structured professional learning that results in changes to the teacher practices and improvements in students learning outcomes" (p. 2). Therefore Mizell (2017) believed, "Professional development is the only strategy school systems have to strengthen educators' performance levels. Professional development is also the only way educators can learn so that they are able to better their performance and raise student achievement" (p. 7). Francis (2021) acknowledged that:

There are many ways that professional development can impact a student learning outcome. The first is that engaged teachers are more likely to have engaged students. Since we know that professional learning can help to prevent teacher burnout, it stands to reason that it will also help to excite and engage students in the classroom. Teacher professional development also translates into student understanding of subject matter. When teachers engage in professional learning on the subject matter and curriculum they teach, it provides them with new skills and knowledge to help them explain complex concepts and ideas to students. (paras. 14–15)

The Teach for America Editorial Team (2018) specified, "As you connect with likeminded partners, colleagues, and community members, these skills will help you form relationships and influence others to accelerate progress toward educational equity" (para, 7).

When educators discover new innovative teaching strategies such as using music in the classroom during independent practices students are allowed to have a voice and to make a choice to increase test scores (Merrill & Gonser, 2021). Professional development allows teachers to learn how to implement, make changes, and evaluate their instruction to better meet the needs of their students (Queens University, 2023). According to Power School (2021), "There are 4 ways professional development can improve school districts:

- 1. Retention
- 2. Deeper subject knowledge
- 3. A collaboration environment
- 4. Student achievement the most important, measurable results of investing in professional development" (p. 1).

Darling-Hammond et al. (2017) categorized seven widely shared elements of effective professional development:

- 1. Is content focused
- 2. Incorporates active learning utilizing adult learning theory
- 3. Supports collaboration, typically in job-embedded contexts
- 4. Uses models and modeling of effective practice
- 5. Provides coaching and expert support
- 6. Offers opportunities for feedback and reflection
- 7. Is of sustained duration (p. 1)

Student Assessments

The prevalent use of formative and summative assessments that includes classroom pedagogy brings about great importance to the momentum of change in education (Taras, 2008). Wiliam (2000) stated:

Traditionally, the informal day-to-day use of assessment within classrooms to guide learning has received far less attention than the more formal uses, and to the extent that it has been discussed at all, it has tended to be discussed as an aspect of pedagogy or instructional design. However, within the past ten years, there has been a recognition of the need to integrate (or at least align) the routines of

informal classroom assessment with more formal assessment practices. (para. 2) Formative assessments include various procedures, such as observation, feedback, and journaling which are frequently used by teachers (Harlen & James, 1997; Johnson & Jenkins, 2009). There are also universal principles that validate the effectiveness of formative assessment (Johnson & Jenkins, 2009). The key is the use of quality assessment tools and the reoccurring information from the assessments that improve instruction (Johnson & Jenkins, 2009).

Summative assessments are also utilized by teachers (Johnson & Jenkins, 2009; Zook, 2021). They have a plethora of tools and methods that provide an overall view on what students have learned during general instruction (Johnson & Jenkins, 2009; Zook, 2021) Information from summative assessments is provided at the student, classroom, school, and district levels (Johnson & Jenkins, 2009; Zook, 2021). The defining characteristics that make summative assessments effective can increase student achievement (Johnson & Jenkins, 2009; Zook, 2021). Summative assessments must have a clear alignment between the assessment, the curriculum, and the instruction (Johnson & Jenkins, 2009). Most importantly, a summative assessment must be both valid and reliable to generate accurate measurements of student learning (Johnson & Jenkins, 2009). Within summative assessments, clear and specific objectives are connected to instruction to provide information about specific learning objectives required at the state level (Johnson & Jenkins, 2009). Dixson and Worrell (2016) and Zook (2021) concluded that formative and summative assessments are great tools to utilize within the educational setting. However, Gezer et al. (2021) pointed out, "Formative assessment is the most frequent assessment with the smallest scope, whereas summative assessment is the least frequent with the most substantial scope, including teachers and school districts" (p. 674). When teachers are implementing instruction, formative assessments should be used to enhance instruction during the introduction of a lesson to help students learn new concepts (Dixon & Worrell, 2016; Zook, 2021). Dixson and Worrell (2016) suggested it was best practice to use formative assessments throughout a lesson for students to become more engaged in their learning.

Dixson and Worrell (2016), Johnson and Jenkins (2009), and Zook (2021) believed that teachers should utilize summative assessments at the end of a unit, chapter, quarter, or semester. This allows the teacher to assess and evaluate the skills students gained and retained mastery of over the course of study (Dixson & Worrell, 2016; Johnson & Jenkins, 2009; Zook, 2021). Summative assessments also provide data to close the gap between student learning outcomes and provide intervention (Dixson & Worrell, 2016; Johnson & Jenkins, 2009; Zook, 2021). Dixson and Worrell (2016) defined and highlighted the characteristics of formative and summative assessments (see Table 2).

Table 2

To improve teaching and learning To diagnose student difficulties Usually informal Ongoing, before and during instruction	Evaluation of learning outcomes Placement, promotions decisions Usually informal Cumulative, after instruction
Usually informal Ongoing, before and during	Usually informal Cumulative, after instruction
Ongoing, before and during instruction	Cumulative, after instruction
mstruction	,
Classroom teachers to test publishers	Classroom teacher to test publishers
Low-stakes	High-stakes
Low to high	Moderate to high
What is working What needs to be improved	Does student understand the material Is the student prepared for next activity
How can it be improved Observations Homework Questions and answer sessions Self-evaluation Reflections on performance	Projects Performance assessments Portfolios Papers In-class examinations
	instruction Classroom teachers to test publishers Low-stakes Low to high What is working What is working What needs to be improved How can it be improved Observations Homework Questions and answer sessions Self-evaluation Reflections on performance Curriculum-based measures

Characteristics of Formative and Summative Assessments

Note. This table was based on Table 1 in Formative and Summative Assessment in the

Classroom (Dixon & Worrell, 2016, p. 154).

School districts across the country use various formative and summative assessments (Bell, 2021; Cordray et al., 2012; Fairman et al., 2018). The Galileo K-12 benchmark assessment and the Northwest Evaluation Association (NWEA) Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) are two such assessments. Both the Galileo and the NWEA are included in the review of literature. The Galileo K – 12 benchmark assessment is a tool some school districts utilize across the United States to measure student growth (Bell, 2021). Bergan et al. (2013) noted, "Galileo K-12 online benchmark can measure student mastery of standards targeted for instruction" (p. 1). The Galileo benchmark assessment is aligned with Common Core State Standards. (Bell, 2021; Bergan et al., 2013). Militello and Heffernan (2009) described the assessment as follows,

Galileo is a system for building benchmark assessments available through Assessment Technology Incorporated (ATI). The Galileo system has a large bank of items and is designed to enable ATI to work collaboratively with a district to design on assessment system that is aligned with local instruction and informs curriculum planning. (p. 3)

According to Burnham (2009), "Teachers can review the report for individual students. School district administrators can view the report aggregated at the class, school, or district level so that progress through the curriculum is visible at a glance" (p. 15). Galileo K-12 online instructional dialogs were designed to include higher-level expectations and intervention efforts within classroom instructions, formative assessments, and district-wide interim assessments (Burnham, 2009).

D. M. Baker (personal communication, June 2, 2023) shared:

The Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessment assesses students' grade-level skills in mathematics, measures mastery of math standards, and can predict state test performance with 85 percent accuracy. The Galileo assessments are aligned with the Missouri state standards or district pacing guide. The questions are presented to the students in the form of multiple choice with several technology-enhanced items. There are approximately 35 questions on the Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessment. Students could complete the test within an hour's time frame.

The key learning targets represented within the Galileo Algebra 1 Benchmark assessment include:

- The Real Number System
- Quantities
- Seeing Structures in Expressions
- Arithmetic with Polynomials and Rational Expressions
- Creating Equations
- Reasoning with Equations and Inequalities
- Interpreting Functions
- Building Functions
- Linear, Quadratic, and Exponential Models
- Interpreting Categorical and Quantitative Data (Imagine Learning.com, 2023, Algebra section)

D. M. Baker (personal communication, June 2, 2023) added, "The Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessment has built-in technology that makes sure there is no duplication of questions". The students were able to score a total of 46 points on the Galileo benchmark (D. M. Baker, personal communication, June 2, 2023). There are 4 developmental levels (DL) scores in the ranges of Below Basic, 1274-1406, Basic, 1407 -1451, Proficient, 1452- 1478, and Advance, 1479-1794 (D. M. Baker, personal communication, June 2, 2023).

Northwest Evaluation Association (NWEA)

Northwest Evaluation Association (NWEA) Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) is one of the most utilized commercial systems that incorporate benchmark assessments and training in differentiated instruction (Cordray et.al, 2012; Fairman et.al, 2018). The NWEA MAP involves a computer-adaptive assessment with multiple-choice test questions (Cordray et.al, 2012; Militello & Heffernan, 2009; Reardon et. al, 2018). The NWEA MAP assigns test items to students by correlating the difficulty of items to the achievement level of the student (Hegedus, 2018; Militello & Heffernan, 2009). According to Hegedus (2018):

NWEA is uniquely positioned to refine prior research and study the differential impact of identifying CSI schools using achievement and growth because of the following factors:

- The MAP Growth partner base is approximately 20% of the nation's public schools.
- The adaptive design of MAP Growth produces an accurate measurement of all students regardless of their achievement level.
- The MAP Growth scale is designed to track student progress over time in a simple manner.
- The unique student achievement and growth norms from NWEA are nationally representative, are explicitly designed to be aggregated, and support comparisons across subjects and grades. (p. 4)

Also built in the NWEA MAP assessment is teacher training and access to MAP resources on how to utilize the data to differentiate instruction for all students (Cordray et al., 2012).

Summary

Chapter Two literature review included the theoretical framework of Cognitive Behavioral Theory and Social Cognitive Theory. Also reviewed in this chapter were the enlightenment of music and its effects on music in the classroom, student behavior, and the connections between music and math. This literature review examined the importance of teacher professional development, student behaviors, and student assessments such as Galileo and NWEA MAP, which are used to drive instruction and show student growth.

Chapter Three will include the methodology used to answer the research questions and an overview of the problem and purpose of the research. Also, a description of the population, sample, and instruments utilized throughout the research will be discussed. The data collections and data analysis will also be presented along with ethical considerations.

Chapter Three: Methodology

The purpose of this chapter is to review and introduce the methodology used to conduct this research on music promoting student growth in an Algebra 1 class. An overview of the problems that drive the research will be provided. The mixed method approach allows both qualitative and quantitative data on student achievement and teacher and student perception of learning to be gathered. Other components of this chapter involve a description of the population sample and instruments utilized along with data analysis. Ethical considerations will also be discussed.

Problem and Purpose Overview

High schools across the country were struggling to pass Algebra 1 assessments (Anderson, 2014; Nauer et al., 2015). Thousands of high school students were finding themselves needing to take or retake Algebra 1 as a graduation requirement (Boylan, 2011; Nauer et al., 2015). School districts placed high importance on the achievement levels of the Algebra 1 course and exam (Nauer et al., 2015); however, students continued to fail year after year (Nauer et al., 2015). Educators viewed the failure as the *algebra whirlpool* (Nauer et al., 2015). In suburban counties, 82% of high school students failed Algebra 1 final exams (Anderson, 2014, para .1).

Students' underachievement in Algebra 1 appears to be connected to errors students make when solving algebra problems (Ojaleye & Awafala, 2018). Procedures and conceptual errors are made frequently when students are solving Algebra 1 problems (Ojaleye & Awafala, 2018). Through the methodology in this study, a connection may be discovered between music and student growth in Algebra 1. There are music psychologists who have proven that forms of musical activity can improve intellectual performance, spatial-temporal reasoning, and other skills beneficial for learning (Holmes & Hallam, 2017). Students listening to music during individualized practice on class assignments may reveal how much of an enhancement that teacher-selected music, student-selected music, or no music has on the perception of student learning, teacher views on behaviors, and academic achievement.

According to An et al. (2013), "Mathematics instruction integrated with music can effectively increase students' intrinsic motivation, because it fosters an enjoyable learning experience in which students may be more aesthetically engaged" (p. 3). Music is known to have an effect on student learning (Mayes, 2018; Stegemiller, 2012; Wilson, 2018). That is why the purpose of this study was to review and discover the effects music had on academic growth and students' views on music increasing student scores on the Algebra 1 benchmark. Teacher perceptions of student classroom behaviors will be revealed. Galileo benchmark data were provided by an accredited school district, and a focus group, and teacher interviews were conducted. The results from this investigation may enlighten math teachers and others in the education field of innovative ways for 9thgrade students to improve their scores on the benchmark assessment in Algebra 1.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The following research questions and hypotheses guided the study:

1. What is the difference in student growth on the Galileo Algebra 1benchmark assessments between 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to their preference in music, 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to music selected by the instructor, and 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to no music at all?

2. What are Algebra 1 students' perceptions regarding the effects of listening to their own selected music has on their academic performance in 9th-grade Algebra 1 class?

3. What are teachers 'perceptions of students' behaviors after the implementation of student-selected music, teacher-selected music, or no music at all?

 $H1_{0:}$ There is no difference in student growth on the Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessments between 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to their preference in music, 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to music selected by the instructor, and 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to no music at all.

 $H1_a$: There is a difference in student growth on the Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessments between 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to their preference in music, 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to music selected by the instructor, and 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to no music at all.

Research Design

The research design selected for this study was a mixed-methods design. According to Burkholder et al. (2020), "An important first step in decision-making about research methods is consideration of the purpose of research" (p. 113). A mixed methods design was selected for this study because it allowed for the collection of multiple types of data. Mixed-methods studies utilize both qualitative and quantitative types of research methodology (Burkholder et al., 2020; Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Collectively, qualitative and quantitative methods provide an opportunity to collect more varied data that strengthens the validity of the findings and conclusions within the study (Burkholder et al., 2020; Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The research questions were created to explore whether the use of background music during independent practice made a difference on student growth and student behavior.

Burkholder et al. (2020) suggested a qualitative methodology is "generally inductive, and the data from which the qualitative researcher works are principally

textual, or narrative" (p. 7). The qualitative data in this study consisted of data collected from two different sources: a student focus group discussion and individual teacher interviews. The value of qualitative research is that it allows the researcher to further examine participants' responses by asking follow-up questions to gain better insight and clarity (Burkholder et al., 2020; Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

Burkholder et al. (2020) concluded:

In quantitative research, where the researcher seeks to understand and describe a phenomenon, behavior, or issue using numerical data and statistical analysis, this includes elements such as the specific structural features of the study, measurement of variables, and strategy for sampling. (p. 51)

The behavior examined in this study focuses on the impact music has on student achievement and if there is a difference in student performance depending on which type of music the student listens to. The quantitative data gathered were secondary data, specifically students' pre and post Galileo Benchmark assessments scores.

Population and Sample

The population for this study included Algebra 1 students from a suburban district in St. Louis, Missouri. The population of 9th-grade Algebra 1 students for this study was 312 students. These students were divided into six classes. A purposive sample of three classes was selected to participate in this study. A purposive sample allows the researcher to determine the criteria for the selection of the sample to be used (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The criteria used to select the three classes were that classes have a minimum of 25 students and that the PI was not a teacher in the classroom. The secondary data sample size of 9th-grade Algebra 1 students was 312 students; 25 to 30 students in each class should be sufficient to obtain valid statistical results (Johnson & Christensen, 2020).

Instrumentation

Quantitative

The instrument used to collect quantitative data consisted of the high school district assessment. The Galileo Benchmark assessment was given to address research question number 1. The Galileo Benchmark was the measurement of the difference in student growth on the Algebra 1 benchmark before and after the implementation of background music (Gabb & Zuk, 2017; Holmes & Hallam, 2017).

Qualitative

This study utilized two different qualitative instruments. The student focus group instrument included five open-ended discussion questions. The teacher interview instrument included seven open-ended questions.

Student focus group questions 2 and 4 were generated to answer research question 1 which provided feedback on which method of student listening preferences of music caused the most effective outcome on student growth in Algebra 1 (Gabb & Zuk, 2017; Holmes & Hallam, 2017). Focus group questions 1, 3, and 5 addressed research question 2, the students' perceptions of the effect background music had on their academic performance (Threadgold et al., 2019; Wilson, 2018). The teacher interview questions were developed to gather teacher perceptions of the effect music had on student behavior and to answer research question 3 (Schwartz et al., 2017; Jamshidzad et al., 2018)

Reliability -Validity

The Galileo Benchmark assessment was vetted for reliability and validity by ATI. According to ATI (2023), "ATI's ongoing research routinely demonstrates that Galileo assessments demonstrate high reliability, predictive validity, and accuracy in forecasting student performance on statewide tests" (Research on Reliability, Validity, and Forecasting Accuracy section). Focus groups and interviews engaged the participants in questions that pertained to the research questions within the study. The student focus group and teacher interview questions were direct, concise, and unbiased. The teachers and students were able to comprehend the questions being asked and responded appropriately.

The Survey/Interview Validation Rubric for Expert Panel (VREP) was utilized to ensure both the focus group questions and the interview questions were valid and reliable (Simon & White, 2013). There were 14 areas of criteria reviewed and scored in the VREP rubric. There were five of the 14 criteria areas that met expectations and the other 9 criteria areas exceeded expectations with no modifications needed. Member checking was also utilized to ensure the accuracy of the qualitative data. According to Mertens (2020), member checks entail providing participants with transcripts of their interviews to review for accuracy.

Data Collection

After district permission was granted (see Appendix A) and the Lindenwood Institutional Review Board approved the study, the three Algebra 1 classes were purposively selected. The criteria for selection was that the researcher was not a coteacher in any of the selected Algebra 1 classrooms. Once the three classrooms were selected, a classroom teacher participation email (see Appendix B) was sent to the teachers of those three classrooms requesting their class participation in the study. The three teachers were asked to be the liaison between the researcher and the parents. The teachers were asked to send home to parents a copy of the parental participation letter (see Appendix C) and the adult consent on behalf of minors (see Appendix D) and then collect the signed forms and return them to the researcher. The three teachers and a paraprofessional were also asked to participate in an interview. A copy of the adult informed consent form for teachers (see Appendix E) and a copy of the interview questions (see Appendix F) were provided.

The three classroom teachers were also asked to select two students from their classroom to participate in a focus group discussion. Once the students were selected, the classroom teachers were provided with a parental participation letter for those students. Along with the letter, a copy of the parental consent form on behalf of minors was also provided for the teachers to send home with participating students. The parents were asked to return the signed consent form to the Algebra 1 teacher. The selected student focus group participants were provided with a letter of participation for the focus group discussion (see Appendix G) and a copy of the minor assent form (see Appendix H) and a copy of the focus group discussion questions (see Appendix I). Once six of the selected students agreed to participate, the focus group discussion was scheduled.

Data Analysis

The quantitative data were analyzed using descriptive and inferential statistics. Johnson and Christensen (2020) argued, "Descriptive statistics starts with a set of data, sometimes called a data set. The researcher attempts to convey the essential characteristics of the data by arranging the data into a more interpretable form" (p. 474). Coolidge (2021) acknowledged, "Inferential statistics is concerned with making conclusions about populations from smaller samples drawn from the population" (p. 144). The use of tables and figures were utilized to illustrate the secondary data used to answer research question 1. An Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was used to determine whether there was a significant difference between the three groups. Coolidge (2020) Group 1 was the group that did not listen to music during independent study time. Group 2 was the group that listened to music that was selected by the teacher during independent study time. Group 3 was the group that was allowed to listen to the music of their own choice during independent study time. The difference between each student's beginning of the year and end of semester Galileo benchmark Algebra 1 scores were calculated. Those scores were then added to an online ANOVA test calculator for analysis.

The qualitative data were analyzed using open and axial coding and were used to answer research questions 2 and 3. Garvey and Jones (2021) suggested, "Through open and axial coding, researchers break data down into parts, or codes, that are then interrelated to explain social phenomena" (p. 2). According to Burkholder et al. (2020), open coding is "the process of identifying, labeling, examining, and comparing your codes and categorizing them into larger, conceptual categories encompassing a variety of similarly themed codes" (p. 236).

Once categories were identified during the open coding process, axial coding was then used to identify major themes. Axial coding involved an examination of the categories identified through the open coding process and the development of major themes. (Burkholder et al., 2020). For this study, both the focus group discussion and the individual interviews were transcribed. After the data were transcribed the transcript of the focus group was given to each focus group participant to verify the accuracy and clarify responses if needed. Interview transcripts were emailed to participants in order to

Ethical Considerations

The participants in this study were protected and assured complete anonymity. Ethics were held in high regard. The informed consent letters were read and given to all participants to sign prior to the research being conducted. All the secondary data, the signed documents, and the interview and focus group transcripts were secured. Three years after the completion of the research project, all files will be destroyed. Participants will be identified with alphanumeric codes. The focus group and interview data were member checked to ensure accuracy. All participants and parents of minors that participated in the research received and signed a consent form that described the purpose of the study, the risk, and how they could opt out of the research at any time.

Summary

Chapter Three provided an outline of the research method used to answer the research question. The researcher discussed the problem, purpose, research design, population, sample, instrumentation, data collection, data analysis, and ethical consideration. The methodology was designed to answer the question, will music being played during independent practice increase student scores on the Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessment. The students and teachers provided their perspectives on how music affected student achievement.

Chapter Four will demonstrate how effective the methodology was after implementation. The results of the study will be described and analyzed. The data from the Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessment will measure and describe in detail from a statistical point of view. The chapter will also include data from the student focus group and the individual teacher interviews which will provide a connection between music and student learning.

Chapter Four: Analysis of Data

A description and an analysis of the data collected which addressed how effective background music during independent practice for students increase student achievement will be highlighted in Chapter Four. Quantitative data from the Galileo benchmark assessment was used in this study to measure the academic achievement of 9th-grade students. A student focus group discussion and individual teacher interviews provided the perspectives of both students and teachers regarding the effect music has on both learning and behavior.

Student data were collected from 36 of the 64 eligible students. Eligible students were those whose parents permitted their child to participate in the study. Six eligible students also participated in the focus group discussion. The Teacher data were collected from four classroom teachers whose students also participated in the study. Tables and figures will be utilized to illustrate the quantitative data showing the effects background music had on student achievement.

Quantitative Data

Data from the Galileo benchmark assessment tool were used to answer research question 1. The Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessment is utilized throughout the school district to generate achievement data on all 9th-grade students in Algebra 1. The pretest took place during the September 2021 assessment time period, and the postassessment took place in November 2021 assessment period.

The quantitative data utilized for this study were the beginning of year and end of semester Galileo Algebra 1 test scores. Figure 1 shows the data gathered for students whose teacher-selected the music played during independent practice. Students 1, 2, 3, 4,

7, and 12 improved their Galileo test scores. The scores of students 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, and 11 decreased.

Figure 1

Galileo Scores for Teacher-Selected Music



The Galileo scores provided data from the beginning of the year until the end of the semester. Figure 2 shows data from students who selected their own music to listen to during independent practices. Students 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, and 12 all increased their Galileo benchmark. Students 4 and 6 scores decreased on the Galileo benchmark.

Figure 2



Galileo Scores for Student-Selected Music

The results of the students listening to no music at all are shown in Figure 3. The student's growth on the Galileo was significantly lower between the pre- and post-assessment for most students. Students 4, 7, 8, and 11 scores increased on the Galileo Benchmark Assessment. Students 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 9, 10, and 12 scores all decreased on the Galileo Benchmark Assessment.

Figure 3

Galileo Scores for Class with No Music



ANOVA Analysis

A two-way ANOVA was performed to analyze the effect of teacher-selected music in the classroom, student-selected music in the classroom, or no music in the classroom had on the Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessment. Beginning-of-year and end-of-semester assessment data were used. A two-way ANOVA revealed that there was not a statistically significant interaction between the effects of teacher-selected music, student-selected music, and no music played during independent study time for Algebra 1 (F(2, 66) = 1.242, p = .4662). Simple main effects analysis also showed that studentselected music played during independent study time did not have a statistically significant effect on test scores (p = .4574). Simple main effects analysis showed that teacher-selected music played during independent study time did not have a statistically significant effect on test scores (p = .3986). There was no significant difference; therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected. There is no significant difference in student growth on the Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessments between 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to their preference in music, 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to music selected by the instructor, and 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to no music at all.

Qualitative Data

The qualitative data collected for this mixed methods study included a student focus group discussion and individual in-person teacher interviews. The researcher was the facilitator for the focus group and the teacher interviews. Each participating classroom teacher-selected two random students who had been granted permission to participate in the focus group discussion by their parents.

The student focus group included three male students and three female students. Two of the six selected students had an individualized educational plan (IEP) to address the students' disabilities. The focus group discussion lasted approximately 40 minutes. Each participant was assigned a numeric code to ensure anonymity. The participants were encouraged to share their views during the session through conversation with the other participating students. The participants were asked five questions about their perception of "How background music affected their learning and behavior."

The teacher interview participants included two male teachers and two female teachers. In addition, two of the teachers were African American, and the other two were Caucasian. The participants' teaching experience ranged from five to 20 years in mathematics. Seven interview questions focused on each teacher's perception of how they felt the students' behaviors and academics increased in a positive manner. Each teacher interview was approximately 30 minutes in length.

Focus Group Discussion

The focus group was held in a classroom setting. The students were informed of the purpose of the study. The students were also made aware that they were in a safe environment for discussion. The students could respond openly and honestly to the questions, and there were no right or wrong answers. Classroom teachers were made aware that the students would be out of class for approximately 30 to 45 minutes. The students were responsible for all missed assignments during that time frame. The students were told that the focus group session was being recorded. Participants were also provided an opportunity to opt out of the focus group session.

Focus Group Discussion Question 1

How do you feel about having a choice in how you learn in the classroom?

All focus group participants stated they liked having a choice about how they learned in the classroom. Participant 5 stated, "I feel it would be a better experience to decide how I would like to learn in my different subject areas than just doing things the regular way." Participants 1, 3, 4, and 6 added that they liked having choices. Participant 2 declared.

I agree with number 5's statement. I feel that having choices is necessary and fun to have a choice, but there should be a minimum amount when it comes to students making their own choices in the classroom. Say there was one subject that the teacher can break up a lesson into three parts so you can learn and grow in your own style, allowing you to pick an option and do what you want but also keep it to where you don't drive too far off from what you need to be doing. This allows me to still have a voice. Because if there is an assignment, I would want three different options on how to do said assignment, so it always depends on how I'm feeling that day to go through with it. I would still do it but, it's just that I would get options on how to do it now.

For the participants to feel like they have a choice and voice in their education, all six participants felt teachers should know about their learning styles and what works best for them. Participant 1 indicated, "I would like to email and talk to my teacher about my assignments is what helps me." Participant 2 made an analogy of groups in kindergarten and stated,

I feel this is important to be known on the first day bases. So, you know how everyone goes into their separate group and functions and plays together. It's basically you know how some people are more hands-on, some are visual learner, and some are just let me do it by myself, and I got it. It's good to break down the classroom into groups to understand how to effectively teach better for each separate group and still get everyone to learn.

Participant 6 agreed, "If somebody feels they learn visually or are more hands-on then they can get help from people in their group just like them and learn better." Participant 5 added, "I agree with number 2 because you can go into groups with your peers and see and learn and get to know them more. They can also tell the teacher how they learn to help find better ways to teach people." Participant 1 would also like to see more grouping in the classroom; they proclaimed, "Groups allow you to see how others are learning on assignments."

Focus Group Discussion Question 2

Do you think listening to your own selected music during independent practice improved your accuracy on class assignments?

All students agreed that they liked having their own choice of music to listen to during independent practice, and most of the group agreed that music improved their accuracy on class assignments. Participant 4 argued that there was no correlation between music choice being played and accuracy on class assignments by saying,

I would say no, because most people, most of our music, as you'll say most of our music is hyped, and for me, hype music is not ideal music to study with. I prefer the calming music that was played in our class.

Participant 2 interjected to elaborate and stated,

Yes, I feel as if having a choice of listening to your own music that is basically yours, meaning that it's what you like to listen to, and it is not just one basic genre. I feel that it gives a nice little sense of being calm and collected and focused.

Participant 2 confirmed part of the statement made by participant 4 by stating,

Though I do understand what you were saying, number 4, because certain music can tend to get you in a certain mind, so it is important when you choose your music; you should choose something that will help you instead of distracting you. Participant 3 eagerly stated for the record,

I disagree with number 4 because I feel like you should have enough knowledge to know what music helps you focus on the subject you are working on and the music you pick out for you is the best music that you think will help you concentrate. I know people that can operate and concentrate listening to rap music because I can focus and concentrate listening to rap music.

Participant 5 wanted their voice to be heard by placing their card in the air to be called on next and exclaimed:

I agree with number 3! Because depending on the type of music that you like to listen to, it can bring you to a state of mind of calmness where you will be able to get work done and focus. Now, it can depend on the music, but depending on that person, it might not affect others as it would you.

Participant 1 agreed with 3 and 5 by describing the type of music that can enhance their learning in the classroom. "If I listen to jazz music, it will put me straight to sleep, but if I listen to rap or R&B, it increases my workload."

The participants described the different types of music that they believed would assist them with academic achievement. Participant 6 stated, "I like all music." Participant 2 could not give exact music for all students but feels "there are multiple genres that they deem for these type of circumstances like some students may take a test may say rock music helps me or I listen to pop, old music, retro or indies music but I prefer rap and pop" Participant 4 said, "The music that would help me is pop, rap, and calm music with less vocals and more instrumental." Participant 5 was able to use problem-solving strategies during independent practice by listening to rap, calm, vocal, and soft music that calmed them down. Participant 1 stated, "mine is 90's and mid-2000s R&B and 90's and 2023 Rap." Participant 3 revealed a love for rock music but stated, "I sometimes listen to soul music and really like R&B the melodies help me focus more."

Focus Group Discussion Question 3

Do you feel listening to your own selected music during independent practice improved your behavior? Why or why not?

All participants feel that music influences their behavior. Participant 3 started off by saying,

So, I feel like, especially with rap music, people can be influenced by what they are saying in the song; that is why I don't listen to rap all the time, but I still listen to it sometimes. I feel like R&B really helps my behavior because I used to get upset really easily but when I started listening to R&B, and now I'm just calmer, I don't like to talk to many people as much.

Participant 1 agreed that rap music was an issue for them at one time in their life and commented, "I feel like last year rap music had me all over the place because I was immature and still trying to find myself." Participant 4 agreed with participant 3 about how some rap music lyrics influenced students' behavior and provided a specific and current artist of this day that students imitated and shared:

I agree with number 3 and depending on what the music says can influence your behavior. For example, let's say certain rap like *The Baby*, their words and music might have you wanting to do the same thing they do. The difference is they were grown, but if students listened to a different genre of music, such as jazz, they will be calmer.

Participant 2 added:

So, basically, I think music with certain circumstances music helps with behavioral issues because only for the fact of I know I get heavy test anxiety. I don't like taking tests. I don't like the silent room and just listening to everyone writing things down and finishing up. I feel like music is a big, major stress reliever for me, and no matter what music I'm listening to, whether it is heavy rap or calm music, it just helps in general not to focus on everyone else and the test itself. Participant 6 stated, "Music can affect my behavior, but it mostly depends on my mood that day." Participant 5 shared beliefs and experiences that they witnessed involving the effects of music on human behavior:

I do believe that music can help with your behavior because, for example, my grandma, she gets a little cranky or a little mad, but when she turns on her music, she calms down and sits down and she listens to people. I do the same thing when I am aggravated or stressed out, I turn on some music, and it keeps me on track.

The participants also felt that music could have a negative effect on their behaviors in the classrooms. The participants were able to express the causes and effects that may lead students to have discipline issues from the types of music they listened to during the school day. Participant 1 felt, "If I'm real, real mad and listen to some rap music, I may go off on someone inside the classroom." Participant 3 stated,

I feel like if I'm aggravated, and I put on aggressive music, it will only make me more aggravated, and when people are coming up to me saying random stuff, it intensifies it. Like last year when I stepped on someone's foot by accident, and they yelled at me, and I almost fought them. I would never forget that because I almost got suspended.

Participant 2 agreed with 1 and 3 by clearly saying that,

I agree with 1 and 3 because if you are already upset and you listen to certain [music], it can get you in a deeper mood than what you already were in, and it can make it hard to focus because you are already in a mood."

Participant 4 stated, "Yes, music can affect students' behavior in a negative way. I have experience seeing people when they are sad, and they tend to put on sad music and that doesn't help their situation; it only makes them sadder."

When negative behaviors arise in students, the participants in this focus group believed that teachers nor administrators should ever take their choice to listen to music away from students. The participants felt they could regulate their behaviors. Participant 4 reflected on how they were able to deal with their behavior change, and music did not have to be taken away, "When I am sad, I listen to happy music, and when I'm mad, I listen to happy music." Participant 2 agreed with participant 4 when it comes to taking away students' options:

I feel taking away the option of listening to music may be deemed good, in, like, teachers' eyes, or like a dean's eyes, but it does have its ups and downs. For some people music is a relaxing point or an escape to help them calm down so if they are responsible enough to play opposite music to help calm down, I think you should still give them that decision. However, if they are not, then I think you should let them calm down, relax, and then give them the choice to make the decision if they want to listen to music because irrational thinking is very common with people around our age.

Participant 1 agreed with participant 2 and expressed how the classroom environment would be without music, "If you take away music from me, I know that it would make me really sad." Participant 5 was adamant about students having the choice to listen to music, "I feel like music should not be taken away because music makes you feel better overall." Participant 3 felt:

Emotions are complex, so for somebody to control their emotions, they need some type of resort, and sometimes that resort is music, and if you take away that last resort, it will make them even more angry or sad, and that music that usually helped them calm down is not there, and they don't have the option anymore because they have taken away the option.

All participants agreed that students could sometimes be moody or make irrational decisions. However, they do not feel music has caused discipline issues within the school environment. The participants in this focus group did not receive any referrals during the implementation period of listening to their own or teacher-selected music.

Focus Group Discussion Question 4

How do you feel each of the following strategies will affect achievement on classroom assignments and which do you feel is the most effective for you?

- Teacher-selected music during independent practice.
- Student-selected music during independent practice.
- No music at all during independent practice.

The focus group participants unanimously felt that teacher-selected music being played during independent practice would not be a good strategy for them. Participant 1 responded by stating, "I don't think this is a good practice for me because I may not like what the teacher is playing". Participant 5 enlightened the focus group by sharing, "I feel like it depends on what the teacher puts on because depending on what that teacher might like to put on for the class the students may not like it. Certain types of music just don't help." Participant 3 insisted,

I just don't like the type of music that the teacher plays. Because they are not appealing to me. It actually gets me off focus and I'm saying what type of music is this? That is why I make sure that I have my headphones so that I can listen to my own music that will help me focus. Participant 6 was in the control group that did not have music played; their response from previous experiences of teachers playing music in the background during independent practices was, "It's just not my preferred music taste, and rather I'd not listen to teachers picking out music for me." Participant 2 agreed with Participant 3 that personal headphones were needed in that situation;

I agree with number 3 only because I do have a teacher that plays music and often more times than not, I just don't like listening to it. It's only because it's like a parity version like someone else is singing rather than the other singer or like kid's bop. We don't have a choice in what is being played. It's like the teacher picked a random playlist and that's it. So, I do like bringing my headphones to that classroom because I like listening to my own music, so I don't get so distracted by what the teacher is playing or the students asking could they pick out a song.

Participant 4 liked listening to all music except for country and always carried wireless headphones to listen to preferred music selections instead of the teachers.

Student-selected music was popular among the focus group participants, and they loved having music as a choice in their learning. All participants felt that music was a strategy that was effective in increasing student engagement and achievement. Participant 2 added,

I just have one thing to add along with our agreement of student-selected music being best for student achievement. I feel like it is important for us to have an option, but you need to be prepared to make that option. If you don't have headphones and nobody can supply them, without headphones you should not play music. The reason why is that you should not be blasting your music from your phone or computer because what if anyone wanted silence and you were playing your music loudly off your phone or computer, it would be distracting to them that is why you need headphones and make sure they are a reasonable volume that it helps you but do not disturb others in the process.

The strategy of no music inside the classroom was frowned upon by most of the focus group. The focus group participants agreed that without music it would be difficult to focus on class work and cause distractions. The focus group participants also felt that the classroom environment and teacher management of the classroom could be determining factors in the effectiveness of why music should or should not be played within the classroom setting. Participant 4 stated,

I think it depends on the teacher, the classroom, and just the area that the students are in. Like this classroom, I can work in here with no problem, but for other teachers' classrooms, it is difficult in their classroom because there are so many distractions, like people that don't want to be quiet, and no learning can go on. This is where the options come in handy, and I use my headphones.

Participant 6 added, "No music will not work for me. I need music." Participant 2 raised several points about how no music would be more of a problem than an enhancement for student achievement or engagement.

I feel having no music at all will be very problematic for multiple reasons. The first reason being honestly, some people just don't work well in silence. There has to be something playing, it's either that or it would be weird for them. There are also some people who don't like listening to anything while they work but always want the option to listen to music if they choose to, and to have the option stripped away from you, no one will be happy, but, I do agree with number 4, that it depends on the classroom environment. Like one headphone in and one out is
expectable, both headphones in the ear is not expectable in a teacher's point of
view and having both out is good. It's just in certain classroom there is certain
functions and different things you just have to work around so options are needed.
Participant 3 presented concerns about how no music at all would affect some students
with disabilities.

With me, I have ADHD so, I cannot focus without music. And, I feel like if I don't get to access music, I get very fidgety, and I won't be able to focus so I would just be tapping on my legs or tapping on things and I would not be able to focus on my work because music helps me focus. I wouldn't notice my work which is right in front of me.

Participant 5 also expressed their need for music during the school day. All the focus group participants felt they could not function without music.

I feel like not having the option to play any music at all is probably one of the worst things a student can have. Personally, I need music to function in the classroom and hallways. It makes my day a whole lot brighter. Without it my life is down and draining because I don't have the boost that I need to go on with my day.

Participant 1 realized how no music could hinder their education and shared, "I feel like music helps me, and if I didn't have no music I would be talking and not getting my work done."

Focus Group Discussion Question 5

In what ways do you feel music might become a distraction during independent practice?

All focus group participants agreed that there are times when music can be a distraction for students in the classroom environment during independent practice. The participants were able to describe in detail the distractions. Participant 3 stated, "Music could be a distraction sometimes, not with me, but with other people. Some students can get so caught up in their music that they space out in the music and forget what they are doing." Participant 4 added,

Yes, I agree with number 3 because some music you do space out with. I space out sometimes with my own music a lot. I don't know why, but I do. Some students even start singing out loud to the songs not even knowing that they are doing it, while others are wanting silence, and this causes a distraction.

Participant 2 described how headphones can be a distraction and how students should stay engaged in the classroom.

I agree with numbers 3 and 4, solely because when having headphones, you either have the volume too loud where everyone can hear it or so low you can barely hear it or sometimes you can get it just right...enough just for you to hear. But my headphones are over the top, and I cannot hear you and my voice gets loud, louder than I need to be. So sometimes you need to look at the teacher to see if they are getting ready to give instructions just to make sure you are still engaged in the lesson and maintaining your work.

Participant 1 admitted,

When I have my air pods in my ears, I can't hear a thing. Then I may start rapping a song loudly, and people are telling me to be quiet, and I don't hear them. I get mad when somebody tells me to stop talking.
The focus group participants found that there were some music genres that might have the opposite effect on students as opposed to pop, rap, and R & B. Participant 1 described the negative effect jazz music had on them when played in the classroom, "Jazz is a problem for me. I fall asleep as soon as it starts playing. When I was in daycare that is the music, they always put on when it was nap time." Participant 3 shared that instrumental music was not a good choice for students to listen to and that it would have a negative effect on their work productivity. Participant 3 determined that the music must have vocals to work.

Teacher Interviews

The teacher interview participants consisted of two male teachers and two female teachers. Two of the teachers were African American and the other two were Caucasian. The years of teaching experience for the teachers varied from five to 20 years. There were seven interview questions that focused on each teacher's perceptions of how they felt music may have impacted student behavior and academic achievement. Each teacher interview lasted approximately 25-30 minutes.

Teacher Interview Question 1

In what ways, if any, do you feel teacher-selected music for students to listen to while completing independent work might make an impact on student behavior?

All teachers felt that playing background music in the classroom created a positive culture and climate within the classroom. The music most preferred by teachers was instrumental jazz, modern instrumental, and instrumental violin. The student's behaviors were manageable after the implementation of teacher-selected music. The

teachers were unable to choose the most effective genre that might enhance student learning and improve student behavior because students listen to multiple genres. Teacher 1 stated, "Music affects students in different ways. It depends on the individual student on how certain music affects them." Teacher 3 proclaimed, "I know that there is a connection with music and mathematics."

Teachers 1 and 4 agreed that teacher-selected music during independent practice provided a more relaxed and focused atmosphere. Teacher 1 added, "The students were calmer when they listened to the music I selected for them. The students' behaviors changed for the better when they were listening to the soft melodies." Teachers 1 and 3's preference was not to use vocals in selected teacher music. They did not choose songs with vocals because the students may have wanted to sing along or be disruptive, and it would have changed the desired classroom environment and possible student growth. Teacher 2 claimed, "Soothing beats are better. Lyrics may be distracting." Although Teacher 4 agreed with the effects music with no vocals had on the students, they also believed that songs with meaningful lyrics could enhance behavior and learning, examples being old school R&B. Teacher 4 indicated,

The music that the students listen to, such as RAP music and other genres, have meaningless words, are corrupt, and deals with violence that students want to imitate. The images portrayed in the songs cause disruptions in the classroom. The students need to hear meaningful and positive lyrics within a song. They may not want to hear it at first, but I believe they would get used to it or just put their headsets in their ears. **Teacher Interview Question 2**

Do you think students listening to their own selection music during independent practice improved their accuracy on class assignments? Why or Why not?

All teachers felt that playing background music in the classroom provided students with a voice and a choice in their learning environment. However, music that is selected by the students could have a positive or negative effect depending on the type of music being played. Specific genres could influence student behavior. Positive behaviors occurred, and increased student achievement was evident when students made appropriate choices on the type of music they would be listening to. Teacher 2 observed, "When students made good choices on their music selections, the classroom was calmer, students completed more assignments, and test scores increased." Teacher 1 reported,

I'm really not sure because the students that are accurate are accurate across the board, and the inaccurate [students] were inaccurate consistently. Music didn't have an effect on the class assignment. I could see it having an impact on behaviors but not assignments.

Teacher 4 agreed with Teacher 1 that there was no improvement or change in accuracy on assignments due to the students listening to background music.

The teachers had different perceptions of whether or not students listening to their own music during independent practice was improving accuracy on class assignments but agreed that there are concerns about allowing students to listen to their own music during independent practice. Teacher 1 expressed that "the biggest concern is students spending too much time searching for songs on their cell phones to get one that they like and not get anything done." Teacher 3's concern was similar to Teacher 1 with students selecting their own music being a distraction by indicating, "The only concern is that listening to music while students work provides another way for students to look at their cell phones and spend more time texting than actually selecting songs or doing their work." Teacher 4 felt, "Students may be too engaged in the lyrics of the song by singing out loud or in their head breaking their concentration on the lesson." Teacher 2 was concerned about the students making the right choices in selecting music, "Sometimes what teachers might think is a wrong choice of music selection by the students could be right for a student to remain focused on the work even if others perceive it to be distracting music for them."

Teacher Interview Question 3

In what ways do you feel students listening to their own selection of music during independent practice might improve their behavior in class?

All four of the teachers unanimously believed that the culture and climate of their classroom changed during the implementation of students listening to their selected music during independent practice. The teachers were able to observe a change in students' behaviors. Teacher 1 sensed through observation that,

Students who listen to their own music improve [their] behaviors because they have autonomy. They are more willing to cooperate when they have a choice. The students were not up walking around and distracting others when they were listening to whatever they were listening to.

The teachers witnessed the classroom environment becoming more productive and conducive to learning. Teacher 2 exclaimed,

I've actually seen what happens when the student places their headphones on. They're more focused on what they're doing and accomplishing, and they can tune out all the rest of the noise and class disruptions that are going on in the classroom that may cause a distraction to them. So, music is able to help students gain focus and remain focused.

Teacher 3 bought into Teacher 2's belief that students were more focused when listening to their own selected music during independent practice and that there was a behavior change. Teacher 3 stated,

The students listening to their own music help them focus more. For example, you may have a student talking, walking around the room, and not focusing on classroom assignments and maybe even uncontrollable and a teacher provides the student with the opportunity to listen to their own music helps eliminate distractions and alters a student's behavior.

Teacher 4 reiterated:

Again, it's that choice, and the student is saying, oh, they going to let me listen to my music, ok, I can now tune in and get to work. So many students are connected and want to multitask, right? And they want to be masters of multitasking. I'm not saying they can't. I'm just saying the goal is for them to ultimately select their own music and then get to work. So, I definitely think it does improve behaviors.

Teachers 1 and 2 saw music as having the biggest impact on the social interaction of students. Specifically, Teacher 1 stated, "There was less talking when music was being played within the classroom, and no music being played caused a disruption." Teacher 2 added:

One of the biggest impacts that music has on the students is less talking. The music helps control the social engagement between classmates. There are times when other students don't respect the learning process of others, and music will help the students to tune out the distraction.

Teacher 4 observed, "Students didn't argue as much and there were less disruptions while the students were listening to music." Teacher 3 found that the biggest impact that music had an effect on was mental behaviors, "music can calm a lot of students down, especially with those students who have a disability. Students with special needs may utilize music therapy as a way of communicating with others."

Teacher Interview Question 4

How do you feel each of the following strategies will affect students' classroom behavior?

Question 4 was divided into three sub-questions. Each sub-question allowed teachers to focus on the strategies used in this study. The teachers shared their perceptions of how students' behaviors might or might not improve if these strategies were utilized in the classroom environment. The teacher's comments were added under each sub-question.

Teacher-selected music during independent practice

All teachers who participated in the interview found teacher-selected music valuable to students' learning and achievement. When selecting background music for students the teachers wanted to make sure that it had a positive effect on the classroom environment instead of the music creating a negative reaction that might impede student learning. The teachers tried to be cognizant of what type of music would work for all students.

Teacher 1 and Teacher 3 responded similarly. Teacher 1 felt songs that students could relate to helped form a sense of community in the classroom,

I think teacher-selected music is a good strategy especially when teachers pick calmer but still relatable songs. The classroom environment is more conducive to learning, and it gives a sense of community if they are all listening to the same music.

Teacher 3 agreed and shared, "Teacher-selected music would be a good strategy if the right background music was played for the students. I believe it could have a positive effect on student learning and behavior." Teacher 4 stated, "I feel teacher-selected music is the best strategy to use to enhance learning." Teacher 3 agreed teacher-selected music could make a difference but was concerned about the impact some music might have on the classroom environment. Teacher 3 stated:

Sometimes when teachers select the music they may select music the students don't know, and the student may not enjoy it there can be various reactions. Teachers need to make sure the music they are playing is not taking the focus off of student learning. For example, the students may not have heard a certain type of music the teacher is playing and have questions about the music which prompts a discussion that is not the focus.

Student-selected music during independent practice

Three of the four teachers agreed that student-selected music would have an impact on student behavior. Students selecting their own music give them a choice. The students will focus on class assignments with minimum distractions. Teacher 1 argues that student-selected music may cause a plethora of distractions within the classroom environment. " I feel that student-selected music creates possibilities for disruptions if students don't take advantage of the option. If I had a choice, I would prefer not to have students listening to their own music."

Teacher 2 held the view that student-selected music could benefit students in the classroom environment,

I think students choosing their own music can be positive. The students can enjoy their music, keep calm, focus, and do better on assignments. It produces a positive behavior within a student. I know that there is some music that students listen to that I have never heard and would not play for the whole class, but it works for them. I feel it is important to know what works for each individual student. I feel it's important for students to have a choice.

Teacher 3 asserted,

It depends on the classroom environment, but I feel student-selected music would be effective and students would produce more work. They would be seated working not talking and distracting other students if they had the opportunity to listen to their own music. I have observed music helping when students had to focus on a math or science problem that had multiple steps to complete the task.

Teacher 4 believed choice equals responsibility, "Student-selected music may also be a choice to utilize in the classroom. This strategy makes students aware that they have a choice in how they learn and it places responsibility on how they manage their time for learning."

No music at all during independent practice

There was a split among the teachers when it came to using no music at all during independent practice. Teacher 1 and Teacher 4 agreed with each other on not having music at all in the classroom for awareness and understanding of what is best for students. Teacher 1 suggested,

Students have to learn how to focus without music, and that's a problem that students have. So, I think it's necessary to have the students work with no music at times because the state exams don't allow it and most teachers' exams don't as well. So, they need to think in silence.

Teacher 4 established the reasons for students having no music in the classroom setting. For math, I feel no music in the classroom would be a strategy that will work in my students' favor. It would provide a better opportunity for students to stay focused and complete assignments. This is what I prefer as a math teacher. Then I have a better chance of understanding what I need to do as a teacher if I have students not comprehending the lesson.

Teachers 2 and 3 concluded that students inside the classroom with no music at all would cause a serious problem for students and their classroom environment. Teacher 3 felt, "No music at all will be a serious problem. This strategy will have students talking, walking around, trying to leave class, and sleeping because they feel class is boring." Teacher 2 suggested that,

Having no music at all for a strategy should be a personal choice for each person. Also depending on what students are doing at the time. I know for me it depends on what I'm doing if I would want music or not and no music at all would probably make me a horrible student. I listen to music all the time at my desk. I like to have music. I find it to be relaxing. So, if I feel that way as an adult I believe students may feel the same way. I definitely feel if students are not listening to teacher-selected music in the background, or have their own headsets in their ears, may cause more student disruptions, distractions, and behavioral issues.

Teacher Interview Question 5

In what ways do you feel music might be a distraction during independent practice?

All 4 of the teachers felt music could be a distraction during independent practice at times. The distractions could affect the whole class or just an individual student. Most of the teachers agreed that music by itself was not the issue. The issue is how the students chose to implement the music during independent practice. One teacher felt the lyrics within the music were a distraction.

Teacher 4 shared their thoughts on the lyrics in the music, "I feel the lyrics itself and the message of the song makes a student concentrate on it more than they are focusing on the lesson. So, you know you doing two things at once, and that is the distraction." Teachers 1 and Teacher 3 noticed how the students' selection process hindered the student's ability to focus on the lesson and wasted class time. Teacher 1 stated, "Some students spend too much time searching for songs." Teacher 1 also believed, "Some students, if the music is relaxing enough of a song, students will go to sleep when they usually don't sleep in class. I feel that looking for music and sleeping would be the biggest possibilities for distraction." Teacher 3 echoed that sentiment:

The changing of the music. There could be more focused on trying to find the right music. So, trying to find the right music can actually take away from the learning. Students take about 10 minutes to get started on a lesson. When the student does get started a song may come on that they don't want to listen to so the search begins all over again. Singing out loud, moving around dancing, and sharing music may also be a distraction.

Teacher 2 perceived:

If music is playing while the teacher is talking or students are using their own devices and different music is being played that may be distracting. There are times that the teacher's music that is quietly being played in the background could cause students to be frustrated or more distracted within the classroom.

Teachers and students like to work in a calm environment that is conducive to learning. Even though all the teachers in this study observed music enhancing learning for some students, they also noticed that some students preferred silence. Teacher 1 argued, "Not all students are able to focus with music, some students need silence." The teachers provided their strategies or thoughts on how to allow autonomy for the students who preferred silence. Teacher 1 suggested,

The only strategy that I can think of to allow autonomy is student-selected music that students listen to music on their headphones quietly enough that only the student can hear it. That way those students who prefer and need silence to think still get the chance, the opportunity. Also, students who feel they focus better with music playing also get that choice. So, bringing it back to student choice and driving their motivation to do the work.

Teacher 2 agreed with Teacher 1 about the use of headphones and let it be known that "Trying to please all students is impossible, but letting the students use headphones may give all students autonomy." Teacher 3 took a different approach, "To allow autonomy I would first survey the students about what helps them focus and learn. Maybe all the students to be in a secluded space if possible." Teacher 4 could not think of any strategies that would allow for autonomy for all students.

Teacher Interview Question 6

During the implementation period of this study, do you feel your written referrals have increased, decreased, or stayed about the same? And why?

All teachers were able to view their data on student referrals and concluded that all scores either decreased or stayed the same for referrals during the implementation period of this study. The teachers may have had an issue but handled it without writing referrals. Small issues were handled by conferencing, parent contact, or detention. The teachers contributed the decrease in referrals to music being played in the classroom because they saw changes in student behavior, and experienced fewer disruptions and distractions.

Teacher 1 stated, "During the implementation of teacher-selected music I had to have a conversation with students for disruptive behaviors such as bothering other students while they work or socializing, but no referrals were written." Teacher 2 shared, "I would say the referrals decreased. We've had better behavior and improved behaviors from the beginning of the school year just because of music." Teacher 3 presented this analysis of written referrals:

I think the number of referrals decreased just because the students had a choice to listen to music during independent practice. The environment changed. The students were not being as disruptive or distracted as much. They were able to just actually get their work done.

Teacher 4 acknowledged:

There were no referrals written because the students in this class remain consistent when it comes to behaviors. I have also been the same since I have established the expectation for the classroom. Most of the time I will make a phone call home to parents or assign an after-school detention.

Teacher Interview Question 7

What other benefits did you observe as a result of utilizing music in the classroom during independent practice?

When it comes to utilizing music in the classroom during independent practice Teacher 1 believed that there were several benefits:

One of the factors is that music could be soothing and most of the class was working. You know doing the same thing. The completion rate was higher for the class as a whole. The students' grades were better overall which promotes selfefficacy and students' confidence. The culture of the classroom changed. I don't think music will ever be a problem, but I do believe at times music has its place.

Teacher 2 described the biggest benefit they noticed:

I think one of the biggest benefits is the individual progress that was of students that made a significate increase because they were allowed to listen to their own music through the headphones and tune out everyone and everything that was going on around them. The students do better on assignments and completing them. So, I've always liked it if the students listen to their own music that helps them stay focused and in tune with what is going on with their classwork was a plus. The climate of the classroom changed for the better. The students' attitudes and attendance improved as well.

Teacher 3 agreed with Teacher 1 and Teacher 3 about the change in the classroom environment:

The benefit of having music in the classroom was the students were not walking around the classroom. The classroom was a lot quieter. Everyone seems to be more focused. The students' grades were higher than before because they were working with fewer distractions.

Teacher 4 was adamant about the benefits of not having music within the classroom setting:

So, I would say my benefit is the need for 100 percent of my students to participate and be focused on the lessons. I need my students to be unplugged and right there from all music and distractions. I would say as a math teacher, math waits on no one. If students are not focused on math they will struggle. That is why I believe not having music eliminates distractions within the classroom.

Summary

Chapter Four included a presentation of the data collected. The quantitative data were presented using figures. These figures aided in the analysis of the data. The data gathered from the quantitative portion of the study pertained to research question 1.

The qualitative data were also included in Chapter Four. Perceptions gathered from the student focus group were provided to answer research question 2. The perceptions provided from the individual teacher interviews were gathered to answer research question 3.

Chapter Five will include the findings of this study. The conclusions will be formulated using the data collected from this study and the review of literature provided in Chapter Two. Also provided in Chapter Two will be implications for practice. Implications for practice will suggest possible solutions to the problem addressed in this study and provide possible solutions as well. Finally, several recommendations for future research will be included.

Chapter Five: Conclusions and Implications

The purpose of this mixed-method study was to consider the influence of music on students' perception and academic achievement on the Galileo Algebra 1 assessment. The teachers' perceptions of students' behaviors after the implementation of music were also examined. This chapter will include the findings from the data collected and presented in Chapter Four. Chapter Five will also include the conclusions of the study and implications for practice. Finally, recommendations for future research will be provided.

Findings

Quantitative

Research question 1. What is the difference in student growth on the Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessments between 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to their preference in music, 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to music selected by the instructor, and 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to no music at all?

A two-way ANOVA was calculated to answer research question 1. There was no significant difference; therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected. There is no significant difference in student growth on the Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessments between 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to their preference in music, 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to music selected by the instructor, and 9th-grade Algebra 1 students who listen to no music at all.

Qualitative

The qualitative data were collected from two different populations and samples. The focus group discussion participants were 9th-grade Algebra 1 students selected randomly by the Algebra 1 classroom teachers. The focus group discussion participants were asked to share and discuss their perceptions of having a choice in selecting and listening to their own music during independent practice and how those selections affected their academic performance in Algebra 1 class. The teacher interview participants included four Algebra 1 teachers whose classes participated in the quantitative portion of the study. The teachers were asked questions about their perceptions of student behaviors after implementing teacher-selected and student-selected music within the classroom setting.

Focus Group Discussion

Research question 2. What are Algebra 1 students' perceptions regarding the effects of listening to their own selected music has on their academic performance in 9th-grade Algebra 1 class?

Participants 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 felt having a choice and voice in their learning by making the decision to listen to their own music during independent practice placed them in a better position for learning and academic growth. Participant 5 believed the traditional way of learning could be enhanced by allowing students to make their own decisions on how they learn in different subject areas. The participants in this focus group found teachers knowing their learning styles was important for teaching and grouping students. Grouping students assisted teachers in teaching effectively. Participant 2 specifically discussed students being visual, hands-on, and independent learners. Participant 6 suggested that if students were grouped together by learning styles they would be able to learn from other students just like them.

The majority of the focus group agreed that listening to their own selected music during independent practice impacted the accuracy of class assignments. However, all participants agreed the type of music chosen by students may make a difference and be distracting rather than productive. As stated previously by Participant 4, the music of our generation is hyped, and hyped music is not conducive to studying. Participant 5 believed the music could be the problem, but it could also be the individual. The same music one student may listen to may not affect another similarly. Some of the focus group participants recognized that they had to make the right decisions on music selections in order to focus. Participant 2 sensed certain music altered their mindset while listening and suggested it would be imperative that students take that into consideration when making their selection. Participant 2 added that students should select music that would assist instead of distract them from learning. There are several types of music that the participants felt would contribute to their academic achievement (See Table 3).

Table 3

	Type of Music							
Focus				Calm				
Group				Music				
Participant	Rap	Pop	R&B	Fewer		Jazz	Indie	Rock
	Music	Music	Music	Vocals	Instrumental	Music	Music	Music
1	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
2	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
3	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y
4	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
5	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν
6	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν

Types of Music Student Focus Group Members Felt Enhanced Their Learning

Note. Y= Yes, N=No.

Table 3 represents the types of music the student focus group felt enhanced their learning on class assignments. Participants 2, 3, and 5 made similar statements that suggested listening to the music selected in Table 3 enhanced their learning because they could be calm, focused, and concentrate more while listening to the music of their choice.

According to the students in the focus group, all students thought Rap Music enhanced learning for them and allowed them to increase academic achievement.

Pop, R&B, and Calm Music with Fewer Vocals were tied for the second music genre that enhanced student learning. Instrumental music was third in regard to students being calm, focused, and showing improved academic achievement. Jazz, Indie, and Rock music were the least favorite of the student focus group participants for improving student engagement in their lessons during independent practice. Participant 6 was well-rounded with their music selections by listening to seven types of genres. All other participants had different combinations of genres represented in Table 3. Participants 4 and 5 selected two of the same music genres and one that was different for the music that motivated them to improve academic achievement. Participants 1, 2, and 3 found two genres that enhanced their learning. Participants 1 and 2 agreed on one of the two genres and Participants 1 and 3 also agreed on a different genre.

All focus group participants felt music had an impact on their behaviors. Participants 1, 3, and 4 recalled listening to Rap music altered their behavior in a negative way. Participant 3 suggested it was not just the music, but the lyrics also influenced students. Participant 3 decided to not listen to Rap music all the time. Participant 3 also found music such as R&B helped calm behavior within the classroom setting. Participant 1 discussed Rap music being an issue because of the lyrics and maturity level at the time of the implementation period of this study. Participant 4 agreed that lyrics within music play a leading role in the students' behaviors. Participant 4 provided the name, "The Baby," as an example of music and words that may have students wanting to misbehave or reenact the song. Participant 2 and Participant 5 believed music could have a positive effect in certain situations. Participant 2 proclaimed that music could provide a solution to behavioral issues such as anxiety, stress, and focus that some students may experience. Music is also helpful during tests. It does not matter what type of music, heavy rap, or calm music. Participant 6 acknowledged that music could have an effect on behavior but is not willing to place all the blame directly on the music. Participant 6 placed most blame for behavior on the current mood or mindset of the student listening.

The focus group participants expressed that there were times when students listened to music during the school day that could produce negative behaviors and created discipline issues. Participants 1, 2, 3, and 4 agreed with Participant 6 that the current mindset and a particular genre of music might cause negative behaviors to manifest in students. Participant 1 and Participant 3 made similar statements about their behaviors when listening to music while already being upset about another situation. Participant 1 shared when they had reached their limit and were truly angry, if they listened to Rap music they could possibly blow up on someone inside the classroom. Participant 3 disclosed when in an aggravated state of mind and the music choice was also aggressive then that would make them more aggravated. When other students were just trying to have a conversation by saying random things, it intensified their emotional state of mind and brought about negative behaviors that might lead to a suspension. Participants 2 and 4 declared that students that were already upset or sad might become more angry or sad while listening to certain types of music and both participants felt that did not help the situation.

Although negative behaviors could occur because of music within the school environment, focus group participants did not believe it should be banned by teachers and administrators. Participant 2 shared that the administration taking music away might be deemed good from their point of view but for students that music is an escape, calming, and relaxing, and if utilized properly music could be used as a strategy. Students being able to select music to alter their behavior gave them a choice in their learning process. Participant 5 felt music was needed because it made students aware of their emotions. Participant 3 wanted music to always be an option because emotions are complex. In order to gain control, students need the option of music as a last resort in dealing with emotions. All focus group participants affirmed that students could be on an emotional rollercoaster and make irrational decisions but felt music had supported the culture and climate of the school environment. The focus group participants contributed not receiving referrals to the implementation of listening to their own selected music during independent practice.

All focus group participants stated teacher-selected music during independent practice would not be a good option for enhancing learning for the following reasons:

- Not liking teacher-selected music choice
- Certain music doesn't help them focus.
- The need for personal headphones to listen to their own music selection.
- Being distracted by students asking can the teacher pick a new song.

Participant 1 believed teacher-selected music was a strategy that did not work because they might not connect to the music being played. Participant 3 felt that teacher-selected music was not appealing and hindered student focus. That was the main reason why headphones were utilized in the classroom to listen to preferred music to assist with student focus. Participant 6 felt the same even though they were in the control group. Participant 6 explained that they had a teacher outside of this study that played music often in the classroom and prefers not to have teacher-selected music in class. Participant 6 stated they always brought their headset with them to class because the music that was being played was a parity version or kid's bop which was not a good choice for high school students. Other students always asked the teacher to change the songs and that became a distraction for Participant 6.

The focus group participants loved having a voice and choice in their education. Therefore, making student-selected music a popular choice for the focus group. The focus group participants found student-selected music a great tool to increase learning, student engagement, and student achievement.

Participant 2 attached specific instructions on the responsibilities that came with students making their own music selections. Participant 2 felt the importance of having an option but wanted students to be prepared to make that option. Students should make sure they have their own headphones or they can obtain a pair from a teacher or the library. Students without headphones should not play music from their phone or their computer. Students needed to be respectful of the students within the classroom. Some students preferred silence and loud music was a distraction for them. Students needed to always be respectful and responsible even if they had on headphones. Students needed to make sure the volume was kept at a reasonable level which helped them to focus and not disturb other students in the process.

Most of the focus group participants found that having no music at all would cause a bigger distraction within the classroom environment. The focus group participants suggested that the classroom environment and a teacher's classroom management style were both effected either positively or negatively depending on whether or not music was being played in the classroom. Participant 4 stated the space within a classroom and classroom management are important. When there is a classroom with a lot of distractions such as students out of their seats and students that refuse to be quiet, no learning can take place. Participant 6 proclaimed that music was needed and they could not successfully do work without it. Participant 2 gave a few arguments on how *no music* might cause complications within the classroom environment. The arguments provided by Participant 2 included:

- Some students don't work well in silence they need the stimulation from music.
- Some students don't listen but want the option to listen to music if they choose.
- The classroom environment would encounter more distractions from students without music.

Participant 4 shared concerns about being a student with a disability and how "no music" would affect them and others with special needs. Participant 4 expressed they could not focus without music due to their disability. If there was no music there was no focus for them in the classroom setting. They displayed behaviors such as fidgeting and tapping on their leg or other objects in the classroom. They sadly stated, "I would not even notice the work that is sitting right in front of me." Participant 5 felt music is needed throughout their day in the classroom and hallways. Music gives a boost to their life, without music it will be draining. Participant 1 stated that no music being played would not provide the help needed to focus on class assignments and get work completed.

All focus group participants found music to be a distraction at times during independent practice. Participant 3 observed students getting caught up in the music and spacing out in the music and not being aware of their surroundings. Participant 4 added that some students became a distraction by singing out loud because they were so into the music. Participant 2 described how having headphones might hinder a student's educational process. There were times when the teacher was giving important information, and the students were not aware due to loud music playing through their headphones. Participant 2 added, students need to check their surroundings and stay in tune with the teacher's instructions to maintain their classwork. Participant 1 admitted they were not able to hear anything and that they distracted others when they started rapping loudly. It caused problems because other students that were trying to work wanted them to be quiet. Participant 1 said this upset them because other students were trying to correct their behavior.

The focus group participants were able to enlighten and provide some music genres that might have a different effect on students as opposed to Pop, Rap, and R&B. Participant 1 remembered Jazz music as a child and stated that if they listened to it now they would fall fast asleep as soon as it started playing. Participant 3 shared that instrumental music had a negative effect on their classroom work productivity.

Teacher Interviews

Research question 3. What are teachers' perceptions of students' behaviors after the implementation of student-selected music, teacher-selected music, or no music at all?

All teachers felt that teacher-selected music made an impact on students' behaviors within the classroom setting. The background music helped create a culture and climate that was positive and aligned with the vision of the school. The students responded well to instrumental jazz, modern instrumental, and instrumental violin the preferred choice of the teachers. The behaviors of the students were manageable after the implementation of background music during independent practice. Teacher 1 stated soft melodies made the students calmer and behaviors changed for the better. The teachers focused on music without vocals to allow the students to develop positive work ethics and obtain the desired classroom environment. Teacher 2 claimed, playing soothing beats enhances learning and lyrics cause distractions for students. Teacher 4 believed that lyrics could be distracting but meaningful lyrics also could bring about a powerful change in students' behavior and have them motivated and ready for learning.

Teachers noted both negative and positive effects when students were allowed to listen to their own selected music. The teachers felt the type of music genres selected played a major role in how students performed within a classroom during independent practice. All teachers agreed that the students' selected choices of music were imperative to student growth. Through observation, grade reports, and discipline reports teachers recognized positive behaviors and increased student achievement when students made the appropriate music selection. Teacher 2 observed, a calmer classroom environment. students completing more classroom assignments, and increased test scores due to students making good choices in their music selection. Teacher 1 was not sure they could credit the listening of student-selected music to accuracy or improvement on class assignments. Teacher 1 stated, I could see the impact that music had on the students' behavior but the increase in academic achievement and accuracy on assignments was not noticeable in their classroom. Teacher 1 added, the students who made good grades before the implementation of music continued to make good grades, and the students that were unsuccessful continued to be unsuccessful after the implementation of music.

The teachers had different insights on the effects of student-selected music on assignment accuracy but agreed on the following concerns of students listening to music during independent practice:

- Students took too much time searching for music on their cell phones.
- Students used their cell phones to text or view social media instead of working.
- Students became engaged in the lyrics which caused them to sing aloud in class and broke their concentration on the class assignments and also distracted others.
- Students did not make the appropriate music selection for independent practice.

Teacher 1 expressed one of their biggest concerns was that students spent too much time scrolling through their phones trying to make a music selection and student work was not being completed. There was more focus on the selection of the music the students would be listening to than the work they were assigned to complete.

All four teachers unanimously observed a culture and climate change within their classroom setting after the implementation of students listening to music during independent practice. Teacher 1 stated that behaviors changed due to students having the autonomy to listen to their own music during independent practice. When the choice was given the students were more willing to cooperate. The students developed a sense of structure for themselves not walking around distracting other students when they were listening to their own music. Teacher 2 witnessed the classroom becoming more productive and conducive to student learning. Teacher 2 said when the students placed

those headphones on they tuned out other students and became focused on their work. They became less distracted by the noise. It is Teacher 2's belief that music assisted students in gaining and remaining focused on class assignments. Teacher 3 found that the mental behaviors of students were impacted the most by music. Teacher 3 declared music was able to calm students' behaviors down. Students with disabilities are able to benefit by utilizing music as a way of communicating their needs and working with others.

All teachers that participated in this study found teacher-selected music during independent practice valuable to students' success within the learning environment. The teachers made sure the music selected for students was positive and did not include negative connotations. The teachers wanted to be cognizant of the different music genres that were the best fit for the students they served. Teacher 1 and Teacher 3 felt in order to build a strong class community the songs needed to be relatable. Teacher 4 stated the best strategy to enhance student learning was teacher-selected music. Teacher 3 felt that the strategy of teacher-selected music was beneficial for students' learning but had a concern about students not enjoying the teacher-selected music and the focus being taken off of student learning.

Three out of four teachers believed that student-selected music would enhance student growth and achievement. When students were able to make decisions on how they learn it gave them the buy-in they needed to focus in class with minimum distractions. Teacher 1 was opposed to student-selected music because of the belief that there was a plethora of distractions that could evolve within the classroom environment. "When students do not take advantage of the choice that was given and do not make good music selections on their own, then the possibility for distractions arises. If I had a vote, it would be cast for students not selecting their own music." In holding the view that student-selected music could influence students' classroom behaviors Teacher 2 stated, "my thoughts are student-selected music is positive, especially for students." Students were able to:

- Enjoy music
- Keep Calm
- Complete accurate assignments
- Produce positive behaviors

All student-selected music should not be played in a classroom setting but it could work for the student as an individual. It is important to have choice and as teachers know what works best for each individual student. Teacher 4 believed having a choice equals responsibilities and that gives students the responsibility to organize and manage their time for learning within the classroom setting.

The option of no music at all during independent practice caused a split among the teachers. In order to create an environment where students were understanding and aware, Teacher 1 and Teacher 4 agreed that having no music is best for students. Teacher 1 suggested that students would be able to focus on instruction and assignments without music which could be very distracting at times. The students also need to prepare for exams given by the state and other teachers in the building that do not allow music. They need to learn how to think in silence. Teacher 4 felt math is the one area that no music was needed as a strategy. "No music allows the students to stay focused and turn in more assignments. This is my preference as a math teacher. I then could have a clear picture of what is needed from me as a teacher if my students are not comprehending new concepts of math." Teacher 2 and Teacher 3 argued that no music being utilized as a strategy for learning would not benefit students but cause issues within the classroom environment. Teacher 3 proclaimed that this strategy would cause negative behaviors such as excessive talking, walking around, students skipping class, sleeping, and being disengaged due to boredom. Teacher 2 stressed having no music at all should be a personal choice for individual students. It should also depend on the lessons during independent practice. "No music at all was not an option not even for me as a teacher."

Music by itself is not an issue, the distraction comes from the students' behavior during and after the implementation of the music, during independent practice. All four teachers agreed there were times music could become an issue during independent practice. The distraction could be a personal issue for one student or the entire class. Teacher 4 felt music with lyrics could be a major distraction and that students might focus more on those distractions than the lesson. Teacher 1 and Teacher 3 noticed how students focused more on the selection of the music was a distraction wasting time in class. Teacher 1 stated some music could cause an issue for students that usually do not have a problem in the classroom such as sleeping when the music sounds too relaxing.

The teachers in this study were able to observe music being a tool to utilize in the classroom to increase student engagement and learning for some students. The teachers also observed that silence was required for some students to be productive within the classroom setting. Teacher 1 stated there were students that concentrate better in silence and music does not help them focus. In order to address the issue and allow autonomy for students who preferred silence Teacher 1 and Teacher 2 suggested the strategy of students listening to their student-selected music with headphones on a low volume. The students that concentrate and focus better in silence could make the choice to work in

silence while other students listened to music with headphones as long as all students were respectful and followed the rules. Teacher 3's approach to autonomy was to survey students' preferences and finding a secluded area if possible.

All teachers concluded that students' discipline during the implementation of this study either decreased or stayed the same. The teachers felt there were no major issues that they could not handle with a conversation, call home to parents, or detention. The teachers felt the music was the contributing factor in the decreased referrals. The teachers observed their classroom having fewer distractions and disruptions from students. Teacher 1 stated, "I have had conversations with students about disruptions but I have not written referrals." Teacher 2 shared the success of the improved behaviors of students since the beginning of the year and attributed the students' behaviors to the implementation of music. Teacher 4 stated no referrals were written and contributed the success to consistency and established expectations within their classroom setting.

Three of the teachers were able to reflect and share the following benefits of utilizing music within their classroom setting.

- Completion rate was higher for the entire class.
- Students' grades increased
- Students self -confidence rose
- Culture and climate change within the classroom
- Fewer distractions

Teacher 4 explained why not having music in the classroom was a benefit for their students by stating, "I have 100 percent of my students focused and engaged in the lesson. They liked the fact that the students were unplugged from all music distractions. The students had a better chance of not struggling because math waits on no one."

Conclusions

This study was conducted to explore the possibility that background music might enhance student achievement in the 9th-grade Algebra 1 classes. The study also investigated students' perceptions of their learning. DiDomenico (2017) reported previous studies "indicate that music has had a positive impact on the engagement level of students, their comprehension levels, and motivation to learn" (p. 7). Teachers' perceptions of student classroom behaviors was also investigated.

The Galileo Algebra 1 benchmark assessment was utilized to measure student achievement and address research question 1 in this study. The Galileo K-12 benchmark assessment measures targeted instruction of students for mastery of the state standards (Bergan et al., 2013). The student achievement from the two test scores was measured by a two-way ANOVA which indicated some students had achieved growth but not significantly enough to reject the null hypothesis.

The student focus group provided insights into the minds and perceptions of the student's thoughts as a group and as individuals. Music is the one strategy that can engage students and open a pathway for connections and a stronger understanding of concepts (Alegria, 2017). The analysis of the teacher interviews on their perception of the effects of music on students' behaviors generated authentic responses. The teachers were transparent about their likes and dislikes of the use of music in the classroom. The following themes were identified.

Theme 1 - Students should have a voice and a choice in how they learn.

All students felt they should have a voice and a choice in how they learn in the classroom. Teachers utilizing music as an innovative teaching strategy during independent practice provided students with a voice and a choice to decide to increase

their scores on assessments (Merrill & Gonser, 2021). In conjunction with the students having a voice and choice in their learning, students felt it was important for teachers to understand their learning process through,

- Learning Styles- such as auditory, hands-on, or visual
- Grouping to learn from peers
- Open communication- to provide the best way to encourage and engage the students in their learning

Teachers can better assist students by improving how they listen by,

- Developing better listening and empathetic skills
- Becoming aware of their prejudices and stereotyping
- Develop self-awareness through self-reflection
- Engaging in perception checking

All of these strategies are useful when perceiving the needs of students (Miller & Poston, 2020).

Theme 2 - The students' choice of listening to their own music during independent practice improved their ability to complete assignments accurately.

Van Horn (2020) discovered, "Past research, as well as current studies, have shown that learners find music to be a beneficial part of the classroom learning process" (p. 203). All the Focus Group participants said, *YES!*, that they completed assignments accurately after listening to their own music during independent practice and that they had the grades to prove it. Wilson (2018) discovered that "Music has many factors that influence the performance of individuals on cognitive tasks" (p. 2).

Theme 3 - Music improves student behaviors.

The participants of the Focus Group were influenced by Rap, Pop, and R&B. According to Alexander (2022), "The type of music also matters; students perform better when listening to music they perceive as calming rather than music that is perceived as more aggressive" (para. 3). Focus group participants felt that background music being played during independent practices calmed and focused students on class assignments leaving less room for disruptions and distractions within the classroom environment. Teachers who participated in this study also felt classroom behaviors could be managed by the use of music. When the students were interested in the subject content and not just listening to the teachers' lectures, students were less likely be behavior problems in the classroom (Bucher, 2019).

Participating teachers felt when students made good choices in selecting the music they would listen to, classroom behaviors were less disruptive, and students focused on their lessons. Brown (2019) described the term "cognitive-behavioral theory" as how people's behavior is influenced by their cognitive processes. Self-concepts that an individual develops on their own has a direct impact on their behaviors. The conceptions may be founded on both positive or negative extrinsic or intrinsic sources (Brown, 2019). The teachers also recognized that students took an active cognitive approach to how they learned and recognized what they needed to do to be academically successful and improve their behaviors.

Theme 4 - How music is implemented by the teacher and student could become a distraction at times during independent practice. The focus group participants described typical distractions as:

- Students who were too involved in their music and forgot about working on the assignment for the day
- Some students spent too much time searching for music to listen to
- Students who did not listen to the teacher's instructions because they had their headphones
- Students sometimes made poor choices when selecting their music and it affected their mood.

It should not be expected that after the implementation of music for students to show improvement. Music affects students' emotions in different ways that could result in positive or negative responses (Schlichting & Brown, 1970).

The participating teachers agreed that music was not a stand-alone strategy that impeded student learning. The process of how the students' implemented the selection of what music they would listen to and how they would listen to their music disrupted the ongoing cognitive process at times. According to Lehmann Seufert (2017), there is a strong connection between students listening to background music and working memory capacity. The teachers also felt that students concentrating on the lyrics of the songs they were listening to, the volume of the music, and taking too much time to select which music they would listen to were some of the major issues that caused distractions for students during independent practice.

Theme 5 - The Focus Group participants unanimously perceived student-selected music as the best strategy to increase academic achievement for them.

According to Kiss and Linnell (2021), Students listening to their preferred background music decreased mind-wandering states and enhanced task focus. Participant 3 felt not having music would not be productive for them due to their ADHD, and music helped them and other students with special needs. Previous research conducted on the effectiveness of background music has shown that students with special needs presented better classroom behavior when background music was played during practical lessons (Savan, 2009).

Theme 6 - All participating teachers found that teacher-selected music was the best strategy because the implementation of background music can calm students and create a positive culture/climate for students within the classroom.

The teachers believed that teacher-selected music was the best strategy to increase engagement and behaviors. Du et al. (2020) highlighted that when music and cognitive tasks are delivered simultaneously, background music offers a special insight into how the brain functions. The music selection that was purposefully selected by the teachers was culturally relevant to the students and contained no lyrics. Berry (2022) suggested that students' involvement will increase, and they'll feel heard if teachers are able to select background music that is fascinating and relevant to their culture.

The teachers recognized that soft and instrumental music is the most effective music selection when creating a positive climate and culture. Bokiev et al. (2018) noted teachers can create a culture of learning to promote student growth by using music in their communication and creative process. Music activates positive output from students during the implementation of the background music. Fletcher (2014) revealed that music has been shown to *light up* the entire brain, according to patients who were listening to music during their MRI. The MRIs of these patients showed a connection between music and the stimulation of happy emotions (Fletcher, 2014).

Implications for Practice

Three implications for practice were identified during the analysis of data. These implications are suggestions for educators to consider when implementing music in the classroom. The first two implications were expected as they were both mentioned in the significance of the study in Chapter One. The third implication became apparent during the analysis of data.

Teachers Need to Find Ways to Incorporate Music in the Classroom.

When teachers build on the concept of cognitive learning theory in the classroom students maximize their brain potential. Cognitive learning is an interactive teaching method that aims to teach students how to exploit their brain potential to the fullest (Valamis, 2022). The stimulation of both hemispheres promotes learning and enhances memory. Able (2020), claimed that music activates both the left and right brain at the same time. Participating teachers agreed that combining cognitive learning and music during independent practices may influence both academic performance outcomes and classroom behaviors of students.

Background music is an environmental stimulus for the mind known to affect cognitive performance (Threadgold et al., 2019). Within the framework of cognitive learning theory, learning occurs when a student thinks about a situation while being influenced by surroundings (Boyes, 2013). Professional development for teachers on the use of music and how to implement music in the classroom would be invaluable for student learning. Teachers can improve their ability to implement, modify, and assess
their instruction by participating in professional development opportunities (Queens

University, 2022).

Students Need to Feel They Have a Voice in the Classroom.

Focus group participants felt it was important for students to have a voice and choice in their learning. Participants also felt that incorporating music in their learning environment was beneficial to their academic achievement and their classroom behavior. Many students love listening to music while doing their schoolwork (Maas, 2013). Teachers can empower students by teaching cognitive learning strategies that will allow students to effectively apply the strategies in their learning process to maximize academic achievement. According to Western Governors University (2020), the following cognitive learning techniques should be used:

- Posing inquiries. Students enquire in order to explore meaning in greater depth.
- 2. Possessing the potential to make mistakes. In order to provide pupils, the chance to make mistakes and learn from them, teachers assign practical challenges.
- 3. Promoting self-analysis and self-examination. Teachers give their students the chance to reflect on and comprehend their thought processes.
- 4. Talking out loud. Teachers should provide pupils with the same chances to process and solve problems as they do.

Teachers Need to Have a Clear Process for Students to Follow During the

Implementation Process to Avoid Too Many Distractions.

Through this study, there were several distractions during the implementation of music during independent practice that were observed by teachers and students.

Professional development should be provided to train teachers in different strategies that would alleviate distractions caused by the implementation of music in the classroom. Darling-Hammond et al. (2017) described professional development as systematic professional learning that leads to improvements in students' outcomes and changes in instructors' practices.

Teachers should also make sure there are clear and precise rules, routines, and procedures that are aligned with the school and district's mission and vision for student expectation. The rules should be communicated daily and posted within the classroom so students are aware of classroom expectations and the desired outcomes. Focus group participants also were adamant that teachers should also provide options for students to give students their voice and choice in how music is implemented. Some participating teachers felt it was important to control what the class was listening to. For those teachers, the class could benefit from several appropriate playlists generated by students but approved by the teacher. This would allow for music to be played on one device in the classroom instead of several individual devices.

Some of the participating teachers and all of the focus group participants felt that allowing students to listen to their own devices and their own music could be an option as long as there were clear expectations for the type of music the students were listening to. This would allow an option for those students that preferred not to listen to music during independent practice. Implementing some of these suggestions may assist teachers with a clear plan and how to eliminate too many distractions and allow for students to focus on the lessons during independent practice to promote student growth.

Recommendations for Future Research

If this research was replicated the structure of the focus group and teacher interview questions should be written to prompt in-depth responses. The research could also have benefited from a multi-year study. The school district tested three times a year and this research only looked at testing data from one testing cycle. This research only focused on background music being played during independent practice, the students may have been able to benefit from music being implemented during testing in order to make a true impact on academic achievement.

The focus group participants also discussed that they felt certain types of genres of music were more effective than others. A qualitative study which focused on the perceptions of students regarding the impact different genres of music had on classroom behavior and academic achievement would be useful. Focusing on which types of music had the greatest impact on students would be a crucial piece to the puzzle to improve academic achievement and student behavior. This study only focused on 9th-grade Algebra 1 students. A mixed methods study which included multiple grade levels and multiple subjects would be beneficial. This would allow for data to be collected to determine if there was a difference between classroom behaviors and the use of background music in the classroom.

Summary

Chapter Five included the findings from this study. Both quantitative and qualitative findings were provided. Several themes were identified in the conclusions section including; students should have a voice and a choice in how they learn, students' choice of listening to their own music during independent practice improved their ability to complete assignments accurately, music improves student behaviors, how music is implemented by the teacher and student could become a distraction at times during independent practice, the focus group participants unanimously perceived studentselected music as the best strategy to increase academic achievement for them, and all participating teachers found that teacher-selected music was the best strategy because the implementation of background music can calm students and create a positive culture/climate for students within the classroom.

Three implications for practice were identified. The first implication was that teachers need to find ways to incorporate music in the classroom. The second implication was that students need to feel they have a voice in the classroom. The third implication was that teachers need to have a clear process for students to follow during the implementation process to avoid too many distractions. Finally, recommendations for future research were detailed including suggestions for both qualitative and mixedmethods studies.

References

- Able, J. (2020). Good Song: The power of background music for studying. *Pocket Prep*. https://www.pocketprep.com/posts/good-song-the-power-of-background-music-for-studying/
- Academy of Mine. (2022). *Cognitive learning: How to use it, benefits, and examples*. https://www.academyofmine.com/cognitive-learning-how-to-use-it-benefits-and-examples/
- Aelterman, N., Vansteenkiste, M., & Haerens, L. (2019). Correlates of students' internalization and defiance of classroom rules: A self-determination theory perspective. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 89(1), 22-40. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12213
- Alegria, M. (2017, June 7). Music as a teacher tool.

https://www.edutopia.org/blog/music-teaching-tool-maria-alegria

- Alexander, H. (2022). How can integrating music into your classroom benefit student learning development. National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments. https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/voices-field/how-doesmusic-benefit-your-classroom-or-school-community-most
- Allensworth, E., Nomi, T., & Heppen, J. (2013). Pay-Offs from expanding summer credit recovery in algebra. Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED563305.pdf
- An, S., Capraro, M. M., & Tillman, D. A. (2013). Elementary teachers integrate music activities into regular mathematics lessons: Effects on students' mathematical

abilities. *Journal for Learning through the Arts*, 9(1), n1. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1018326.pdf

- Anderson, S. (2014, June 30). *An 82% failure rate on high school algebra exams?* https://www.forbes.com/sites/stuartanderson/2014/06/30/an-82-percent-failurerate-on-high-school-algebra-exams/?sh=53ee57a13f15
- Argabright, R. (2005). Connecting with music. *General Music Today*, 18(2), 4-4. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0265051705006091

Asghar, M. (2013). Exploring formative assessment using cultural historical activity theory. *Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry*, 4(2), 18–32. https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/tojqi/issue/21399/229389?publisher=tojqi

- Assessment Technology Incorporated. (2023). *Research: Ensuring that Galileo and its users stay ahead of the curve*. https://www.ati-online.com/galileoK12/k12research-services.php
- Atılgan, D. S. (2021). Impacts of music education on different areas of personal development: Impacts of music education. *International Journal of Curriculum and Instruction*, 13(3), 3295-3317. http://ijci.wcciinternational.org/index.php/IJCI/article/view/820/407
- Barany, D. (2019, March 20). Cramming is a survival strategy, Not a learning strategy. College Docs. https://www.collegedocs.com/ college-info-blog/cramming-is-asurvival-strategy-not-a-learning-strategy
- Barlie, N. (2022). *Should you let students listen to music in the classroom?*. Hey Teach. https://www.wgu.edu/heyteach/article/should-you-let-students-listen-to-music-in-the-classroom1709.html

Barnes, J., (2020). Background music in a Montessori classroom: Does music help

children focus during the work cycle in an early childhood Montessori classroom?[Master's paper, University of Wisconsin – River Falls]. https://minds.wisconsin.edu/handle/1793/81520

- Bandura, A. (1989). Social cognitive theory. In R. Vasta (Ed.), *Annals of child development*. Vol. Six theories of child development (pp. 1–60). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Bell, A. M. (2021). English language arts & mathematics achievement in Native American students utilizing a 1: 1 initiative [Doctoral dissertation, Grand Canyon University].
 https://search.proquest.com/openview/8d68b1c8a86a5ea27 ce11eb812bacf/1?pq-

origsite=18750&diss=y

- Bergan, J. R., Bergan, K., Guerrar Burnham, C., Cunningham, S., Feld, J., Nochumson, K., & Smith, K. A. (2013). Building reliable and valid benchmark assessments. *Tucson, AZ: Assessment Technology Incorporated*. https://www.ationline.com/pdfs/researchK12/BuildingReliableBenchmarks.pdf
- Berry, E., (2022). *Musical magic: Benefits of music in the classroom and 5 strategies for incorporating music*. https://scienceandliteracy.org/benefits-of-music-in-theclassroom/
- Bokiev, D., Bokiev, U., Aralas, D., Ismail, L., & Othman, M. (2018). Utilizing music and songs to promote student engagement in ESL classrooms. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 8(12), 314–332. DOI: 10.6007/IJARBSS/v8-i12/5015
- Boyes, A. (2013). Strong connections: Building positive teacher-student relationships based on personality types, learning styles, methods of communication and

contrasting perspectives. MTNA e-Journal, 4(3), 23-34.

https://www.proquest.com/openview/7cbef0f738d46a4cafb1569894f56a6f/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=726357

- Boylan, H. R. (2011). Improving success in developmental mathematics: An interview with Paul Nolting. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 34(3), 20. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ986275.pdf
- Brewer, C., (1995). John Hopkin's School for Education: Integrating music in the classroom. Frequency of Learning. https://frequencyoflearning.com/2017/06/29/john-hopkins-study-integrating-

music-in-the-classroom/

- Brown, D. (2019, July 17). Cognitive learning theory. *EdApp Microlearning*. https://www.edapp.com/blog/cognitive-learning-theory/
- Bucher, L. (2019). *The impact of music on behavior in high-risk students* (Doctoral dissertation, Wittenberg University).

https://etd.ohiolink.edu/apexprod/rws_etd/send_file/send?accession=wuhonors16 17189583713576&disposition=inline

- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., Crawford, L. M., & Hitchcock, J. H. (Eds.). (2020).*Research design and methods: An applied guide for the scholar-practitioner*.Sage Publications.
- Burney, V. H. (2008). Applications of social cognitive theory to gifted education. *Roeper Review*, *30*(2), 130-139. https://doi.org/10.1080/02783190801955335
- Burnham, C., (2009). Seeing both the forest and the trees: Measuring progress, forecasting, and intervention. Assessment Technology Incorporated. http://www.ati-online.com/pdf/researchK12/SeeingForestAndTrees.pdf

Cadorna, E. A., Cadorna, E. F., & Taban, J. G. (2021). A cross-sectional study of students' learning progression in algebra. *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, 9(3), 449-460. DOI: 10.13189/ujer.2021.090304

Çeliköz, N., Erişen, Y., & Şahin, M. (2016). Cognitive learning theories. Learning and teaching: Theories, approaches, and models, 31–46. http://ijonte.org/FileUpload/ks63207/File/chapter_3.pdf

- Cherry, K., (2022, October 14). *How social learning theory works*. https://www.verywellmind.com/social-learning-theory-2795074
- Church, E. B. (2001). The math in music and movement. *Early Childhood Today*, *15*(4), 38-43.
- Civil, M. D. (2007). *Using music to improve learning in mathematics* (Master's thesis, SUNY College at Brockport). http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12648/5457

Connelly, C. (2019). An investigation of the use of western music and song lyrics in the L2 classroom. 大学教育実践ジャーナル= Journal of faculty and staff development in higher education, (17), 19–28. https://web.opar.ehime-u.ac.jp/wp1/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/J17-3_christopher.pdf

Coolidge, F. L. (2020). Statistics: A gentle introduction (4th ed.). Sage Publications.

Cordray, D., Pion, G., Brandt, C., Molefe, A., & Toby, M. (2012). The impact of the measures of academic progress (MAP) program on student reading achievement. final report. NCEE 2013-4000. *National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance*.

https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/midwest/pdf/REL_20134000.pdf

Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). Sage. Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M. E., & Gardner, M. (2017). Effective teacher professional development. https://doi.org/10.54300/122.311.

DiDomenico, J. (2017). Effective integration of music in the elementary school classroom. *ie: inquiry in education*, 9(2), 4. https://digitalcommons.nl.edu/ie/vol9/iss2/4

Dixson, D. D., & Worrell, F. C. (2016). Formative and summative assessment in the classroom. *Theory into practice*, 55(2), 153-159. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2016.1148989

- Du, M., Jiang, J., Li, Z., Man, D., & Jiang, C. (2020). The effects of background music on neural responses during reading comprehension. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-75623-3
- Dunn, K. E., & Mulvenon, S. W. (2009). A critical review of research on formative assessments: The limited scientific evidence of the impact of formative assessments in education. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation*, 14(1), 7. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7275/jg4h-rb87

Edelson, R. J., & Johnson, G. (2003). Music makes math meaningful. *Childhood Education*, 80(2), 65-70. https://doi.org/10.1080/00094056.2004.10521259

Edwards, N. A. (2019). Using Music in the Classroom as a Pedagogical Tool [Doctoral dissertation, Milligan College].

https://mcstor.library.milligan.edu/bitstream/handle/11558/4316/Edwards_Noah_ 20190510.pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y

 Erdem, C., & Kocyigit, M. (2019). Student misbehaviors confronted by academics and their coping experiences. *Educational Policy Analysis and Strategic Research*, 14(1), 98–115. DOI: https://doi.org/10.29329/epasr.2019.186.6 Fairman, J., Johnson, A., Mette, I., Wickerd, G., & LaBrie, S. (2018). A review of standardized testing practices and perceptions in Maine. *Center for Education Policy, Applied Research, and Evaluation*.
https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED586108.pdf

Fong, A., Jaquet, K., & Finkelstein, N. (2016). Who repeats algebra, and how does initial performance relate to improvement when the course is repeated? *Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness*.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED567056.pdf

- Fraenkel, J. R., Wallen, N. E. & Hyun, H.H. (2019). *How to design and evaluate research in education* (10th ed.). New York: McGraw Hill.
- Francis, J., (2021, November 30). How Does Professional Development Impact Student Learning Outcomes? https://blog.alludolearning.com/how-does-professionaldevelopment-impact-student-learning
- Fletcher, J., (2014). *The educational benefits of using music in the classroom*. https://www.freelibrary.com/The+educatiomal+benefits+of+using+music+in+the +classroom-a0384636901
- Gabb, N., & Zuk, J., (2017, May 1). Is there a Link between Music and Math? https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/is-there-a-link-between-music-andmath/
- Garrison, C., & Ehringhaus, M. (2007). Formative and summative assessments in the classroom. http://www.amle.org/Publications/WebExclusive/Assessment/tabid /1120/Default.aspx

- Garvey, C.M., & Jones, R. (2021). Is there a place for theoretical frameworks in qualitative research? *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*. https://doi.org./10.1177/1609406920987959
- Gezer, T., Wang, C., Polly, A., Martin, C., Pugalee, D., & Lambert, R. (2021). The relationship between formative assessment and summative assessment in primary grade mathematics classrooms. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 13(5), 673-685.

https://www.iejee.com/index.php/IEJEE/article/view/1508

- Grade Power Learning. (2017, May 30). *Does cramming for tests actually work?* https://gradepowerlearning.com/does-cramming-work/
- Grider, C. (1993) Foundations of cognitive theory: A concise review. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED372324.pdf
- Hallam, S., & Price, J. (1998). Can the use of background music improve behaviour and academic performance of children with emotional difficulties? *British Journal of Special Education*, 25, 88-91. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8527.t01-1-00063
- Harlen, W., & James, M. (1997). Assessment and learning: differences and relationships between formative and summative assessment. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice*, 4(3), 365-379. DOI: 1.0.1080/0969594970040304
- Hegedus, A. (2018). Evaluating the Relationships between Poverty and School Performance. NWEA Research. *NWEA*. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED593828
- Holmes, S. & Hallam, S. (2017). The Impact of participation in music on learning mathematics. *London Review of Education*. 15(3), 425-438.
 DOI:10.18546/LRE.15.3.07

How Emotions Affect Behavior. (2016, June 27). https://study.com/academy/lesson/howemotions-affect-behavior.html.

ImagineLearning.com (2023). Math Benchmark Assessments.

https://content.imaginelearning.com/galileo/k-

12/imagineAssessment_galileoMathBenchmarkAssessments.pdf

Indeed Editorial Team. (2022, August 2). *Cognitive Learning: Definition, benefits, and examples*. https://www.indeed.com/career-advice/career-development/cognitivelearning#:~:text=Cognitive%20learning%20is%20an%20immersive,the%20mem ory%20and%20retention%20capacity.

James, J. E. (1993). Cognitive-Behavioural theory: An alternative conception. *Australian Psychologist*, 28(3), 151-155. https://doi.org/10.1080/00050069308258894

Jamshidzad, M., Maghsoudipour, M., Zakerian, S. A., Bakhshi, E., & Coh, P. (2020). Impact of music type on motor coordination task performance among introverted and extroverted students. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics*, 26(3), 444-449. DOI: 10.1800/10803548.2018.1455410

Järvelä, I. (2018). Genomics studies on musical aptitude, music perception, and practice. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1423(1), 82–

91. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13620

- Johnson, E., & Jenkins, J. (2009). Formative and summative assessment. Psychology of classroom learning: An encyclopedia. Detroit: Macmillan Reference.
- Johnson, R. & Christensen, L. (2020). *Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches*. Sage Publications.

- Johnson, Z. D., Goldman, Z. W., & Claus, C. J. (2019). Why do students misbehave? An initial examination of antecedents to student misbehavior. *Communication Quarterly*, 67(1), 1-20. DOI: 10.1080/01463373.2018.1483958
- Joslyn, P. R., Vollmer, T. R., & Kronfli, F. R. (2019). Interdependent group contingencies reduce disruption in alternative high school classrooms. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 28, 423–434. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10864-019-09321-0
- Kiss, L., & Linnell, K. J. (2021). The effect of preferred background music on task-focus in sustained attention. *Psychological Research*, 85(6), 2313– 2325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-020-01400-6
- Koolidge, L., & Holmes, R. M. (2018). Piecing it together: The effect of background music on children's puzzle assembly. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 125(2), 387– 399. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031512517752817
- Krishnan, R. (2020, July 9). The functional relationship between math and music. *Disc Makers Blog*. https://blog.discmakers.com/2020/07/the-functional-relationship-between-math-and-music/#:~:text=The%20biggest%20similarity%20between %20math,differential%20calculus%2C%20and%20even%20trigonometry.
- Lailiyah, S., Nusantara, T., Sa'Dijah, C., Irawan, E. B., & Asyhar, A. H. (2018).
 Structuring students' analogical reasoning in solving algebra problem. In IOP *Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering* (Vol. 296, No. 1, p. 012029). IOP Publishing. https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1757-899X/296/1/012029/pdf
- LaMarte, W., (2019, September 9). *The social cognitive theory*. Boston University School of Public Health. https://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/mphmodules/sb/behavioralchangetheories/behavioralchangetheories5.html

Lehmann, J. A., & Seufert, T. (2017). The influence of background music on learning in the light of different theoretical perspectives and the role of working memory capacity. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 1902. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01902

Lemaire, E. C. (2019). The effect of background music on episodic memory. *Psychomusicology: Music, Mind & Brain*, 29(1), 22– 34. https://doi.org/10.1037/pmu0000234

- Loehr, A. M., Rittle-Johnson, B., Star, J. R., & Desharnais, C. (2018, April). Developing a more comprehensive measure of formal algebra knowledge. Poster presented at the American Educational Research Association (AERA), New York City, NY. https://my.vanderbilt.edu/cems/files/2019/05/CEMS_AlgebraAssessment_AERA 2018.pdf
- Mandi, J., (2021 April 9). *The Importance of Cognitive Learning*. https://diversity.social/what-is-cognitive-learning/
- Maas, S. (2013). The effect of background music on math test performance of high school students (Doctoral dissertation, Oakland University). http://our.oakland.edu/handle/10323/1581
- Mayes, M. (2018). Music and math curricula for second-grade students: An action research study (Doctoral dissertation, Capella University). Proquest Number: 10929602
- Merrill, S., & Gonser, S. (2021). The importance of student choice across all grade levels. *Edutopia*. https://www.edtopi.org/article/importance-student-choice-allgrade-levels/

Mertens, D. M. (2019). *Research and evaluation in education and psychology: Integrating diversity with quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods* (5th ed.).
Sage publications.

Militello, M., & Heffernan, N. (2009). Which one is just right? What every educator should know about formative assessment systems. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, 4(3), n3.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1071014.pdf

- Miller, C., & Poston, M. (2020). Improving Perception. Exploring Communication in the Real World. https://cod.pressbooks.pub/communication/chapter/2-4-improvingperception/
- Mizell, H. (2010). Why professional development matters. *United States of America: Learning Forward*. https://learningforward.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/08/professional-development-matters.pdf
- Mohan, A., & Thomas, E. (2020). Effect of background music and the cultural preference to music on adolescents' task performance. *International Journal of Adolescence* and Youth, 25(1), 562-573. DOI: 10.1080/02673843.2019.1689368
- Moody, J. (2020, January 6) *What is a benchmark exam?* https://edulastic.com/blog/benchmark-exam/
- National Education Association (2020) *History of Standardized Testing in the United States.* https://www.nea.org/professional-excellence/student-engagement/toolstips/history-standardized-testing-united-states
- Nauer, K., Mader, N., & Zingmond, L., (2014). Rough Calculations Will the Common Core Algebra Regents Exam Threaten NYC's Graduation Rates?

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/53ee4f0be4b015b9c3690d84/t/55d2270ce4b 06f52f9e6781a/1439835916832/CNYCA+Rough+Calculations.pdf

- Nomi, T., Raudenbush, S. W., & Smith, J. J. (2021). Effects of double-dose algebra on college persistence and degree attainment. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 118(27), e2019030118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2019030118
- Nickerson, C. (2023, February 15). *Observational learning in psychology: Example behaviors*. www.simplypsychology.org/what-is-observational-learning.html
- Ojaleye, O. & Awofala, A.O.A. (2018). Blended learning and problem-based learning instructional strategies as determinants of senior secondary school students' achievement in algebra. *International Journal of Research in Education and Science (IJRES)*, 4(2),486-501. DOI:10.21890/ijres.428286
- Padgett, D. (2020, September 2). Learning theories: Understanding the 4 major ones for the classroom. *LeaderinMe*, https://www.leaderinme.org > Blog
- Pogue, B. J. (2018). Using music and movement to enhance cognitive development. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/217031431.pdf
- PsychologyTools, (2023). What is CBT? https://www.psychologytools.com/selfhelp/what-is-cbt/
- Queens University, (2023). *The Importance of professional development for educators*. https://online.queens.edu/resources/article/professional-development-foreducators/
- Reardon, S. F., Kalogrides, D., Fahle, E. M., Podolsky, A., & Zárate, R. C. (2018). The relationship between test item format and gender achievement gaps on math and ELA tests in fourth and eighth grades. *Educational Researcher*, 47(5), 284-294. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X18762105

- Roldán Roa, E., Roldán Roa, É., & Chounta, I. A. (2020). Learning music and math, together as one: Towards a collaborative approach for practicing math skills with music. In *Collaboration Technologies and Social Computing: 26th International Conference, CollabTech* 2020, Tartu, Estonia, September 8–11, 2020, Proceedings 26 (pp. 143-156). Springer International Publishing. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-58157-2_10
- Ross, E. (2020, April 15). *How to use background music as a teaching tool in the classroom [Based on 17 researches and studies]*.

https://mytechclassroom.com/background-music-in-the-classroom/

- Santos-Luiz, C. (2007, November). The learning of music as a means to improve mathematical skills. In *Proceedings of the International Symposium of Performance Science* (pp. 135-140). Doi: 10.13140/2.1.1293.1849.
- Savan, A. (2009). "The effect of background music on learning." In: de Souza, M., Francis, L.J., O'Higgins-Norman, J., Scott, D. (eds) *International Handbook of Education for Spirituality, Care and Wellbeing* (pp. 1029–1039). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-9018-9_56
- Schlichting, H. E., & Brown, R. V. (1970). Effect of background music on student performance. *The American Biology Teacher*, 32(7), 427–429. https://doi.org/10.2307/4443158
- Schwartz, R. W., Ayres, K. M., & Douglas, K. H. (2017). The Effects of music on task performance, engagement, and behavior: A literature review. *Psychology of Music*, 45(5), 611–627. doi:10.1177/0305735617691118
- Shamnadh, M., & Anzari, A. (2019). Misbehavior of school students in classrooms-main causes and effective strategies to manage it. *International Journal of Scientific*

Development and Research (IJSDR), 4(3), 318-321.

https://www.ijsdr.org/papers/IJSDR1903053.pdf

- Sigman, K. J. (2005). Using background music in the classroom to effectively enhance concentration within the learning environment (Doctoral dissertation, Marietta College). http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=marietta1112128560
- Simon, M. K., & White, J. (2013). Survey/interview validation rubric for expert panel– VREP. http://dissertationrecipes.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/04/Expert-Validation-v3.pdf
- Stanger, C., Jhangiani, R., & Tarry, H. (2011). Principles of Social Psychology-1st International Edition. BC Open Textbooks.
- Stegemiller, M., (2013). The effects of background music in the classroom. *Honors Projects*. 50. https://scholarworks.bgsu.edu/honorsprojects/50
- Stone, S.M. (2017, July 7). Observational learning. *Encyclopedia Britannica*. https://www.britannica.com/science/observational-learning
- Strachan, D. (2015). The space between the notes: The effects of background music on student focus. https://sophia.stkate.edu/maed/118
- Sun, R. C., & Shek, D. T. (2012). Student classroom misbehavior: an exploratory study based on teachers' perceptions. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2012, 208907. https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/208907
- Taras, M. (2008). Summative and formative assessment: Perceptions and realities. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 9(2), 172-192. doi:10.1177/1469787408091655.
 Hal-00571974

- The Teach For America Editorial Team (2018). *Four ways that teaching enhances your leadership skills*. https://www.teachforamerica.org/stories/four-ways-that-teaching-enhances-your-leadership-skills
- Threadgold, E, Marsh, JE, McLatchie, N, Ball, LJ. Background music stints creativity: Evidence from compound remote associate tasks. *Appl Cognit Psychol.* 2019; 33: 873–888. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3532
- Van Horn, K. R. (2020). The effect of background music on L2 speaking output and student perceived self-efficacy in an EFL context. *Multimedia-Assisted Language Learning*, 23(2), 175–214. https://doi.org/10.15702/mall.2020.23.2.175
- Valamis. (2022, February 28). *Cognitive learning theory: Benefits, strategies, and examples*. https://www.valamis.com/hub/cognitive-learning
- de la Mora Velasco, E., & Hirumi, A. (2020). The effects of background music on learning: a systematic review of literature to guide future research and practice. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 68(6), 2817-2837.https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09738-4
- Wenk, L. (2017, September 14). The importance of engaging prior knowledge. Hampshire College. https://sites.hampshire.edu/ctl/2017/09/14/the-importance-ofengaging-prior-knowledge/
- Western Governors University (2020, March 12). *What is cognitive learning?*. https://www.wgu.edu > blog > what-is-cognitive-learning2003.html#close
- White, K. N. (2007). The effects of background music in the classroom on the productivity, motivation, and behavior of fourth grade students [Master's thesis, Columbia College].

https://www.proquest.com/openview/f4e549e464bd4c86ac5316a14dd06662/1?pq -origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750

- Wilson, C. (2018). The impact of music on task performance at work [Undergraduate theses, University of Arkansas]. https://scholarworks.uark.edu/acctuht/28
- Wiliam, D. (2006). Formative assessment: Getting the focus right. *Educational assessment*, 11(3-4), 283-289.DOI 101207/s15326977ea110384_7
- Wiliam, D., (2000). Integrating Summative and Formative Functions of Assessment. https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/1507176/1/Wiliam2000IntergratingAEA-E_2000_keynoteaddress.pdf
- Wiliam, D., & Thompson, M. (2017). Integrating assessment with learning: What will it take to make it work? In *The Future of Assessment* (pp. 53-82). Routledge.
- Wininger, S. R. (2005). Using your tests to teach: Formative summative assessment. *Teaching of Psychology*, 32(3), 164-166. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15328023top3203_7
- Yilmaz, K. (2011). The cognitive perspective on learning: Its theoretical underpinnings and implications for classroom practices. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues, and Ideas*, 84(5), 204-212. DOI: 10.1080/00098655.2011.568989
- Yussif. (2019, June 8). 9 reasons why students misbehave. *Classroom Management Expert*. https://classroommanagementexpert.com/blog/why-do-studentsmisbehave/
- Zook, C. (2021, December 22). Formative vs. summative assessments: What's the difference?. *AES*. https://www.aeseducation.com/blog/formative-vs.-summative-assessments-what-do-they-mean

Appendix A

District Permission Letter

Date: XXXX

RE: Permission to Conduct Research in XXXX School District

To: XXXX Superintendent of Schools

I am writing to request permission to conduct research in the XXXX School District at XXXX High School. I am currently pursuing my doctorate through Lindenwood University and am in the process of conducting research for my dissertation. The study is entitled Moving Forward with Music to Promote Student Growth. I would like to request secondary data gathered from benchmark testing for the Algebra I classes during the 2021–2022 school year. I would also like to request permission to invite 6–10 Algebra I students to participate in a focus group discussion. The discussion group will be audio- or video-recorded via Zoom or Google Meet. The purpose of the discussion is to gather data on student perception of their academic achievement after the implementation of music during their class time independent learning. Finally, I would like to request 4-6 of the Teachers whose students are participating in the study to participate in interviews. The purpose of the teacher interviews is to gather data on teacher perception of students' behaviors after the implementation of teacher-selected or student-selected music during class time independent learning.

If you agree, please sign below, scan this page, and email to me, Willie Mae Dean at wd506@lindenwood.edu. If you prefer, you may acknowledge your consent via email. Your approval to conduct this study will be greatly appreciated. I would be happy to answer any questions or concerns you may have regarding this study.

Sincerely,

Willie Mae Dean Doctoral Student at Lindenwood University

Appendix B

Classroom Teacher Participation Letter

Date: XXXX

Dear Algebra 1 Teachers,

My name is Willie Mae Dean. I am a doctoral student at Lindenwood University, and I am conducting a research study to determine if students listening to personally selected music during independent practice increases student achievement in Algebra I. The title of the study is *Moving Forward with Music to Promote Student Growth*.

The superintendent, XXXX, has given permission for me to conduct this study in the XXXX School District. I would like to invite you to participate in this study. Your participation would include the following:

- Providing me with Beginning and Middle of year benchmark test results for the selected Algebra 1 class.
- Participating in a 30-minute interview.
- Selecting two Algebra 1 students from your class that you feel would be representative of the class as a whole to participate in a focus group discussion with Algebra 1 students from two other classes.
- Acting as a liaison between myself and the parents of the selected students to provide them with an introductory letter to parents, a copy of the adult consent on behalf of a minor that they will sign and return to you, and a copy of the focus group discussion questions.

I have attached the Informed Consent Form and the Interview Questions. I hope you will consent to participate in this study.

Please contact me at 314-370-5135 or by email at wd506@lindenwood.edu with any questions you might have.

Thank you,

Ms.Willie Mae Dean, Ed.S. Lindenwood University Doctoral Student

Appendix C

Letter of Participation to Parents

Date: 4/27/2021

Dear Parent or Guardian,

My name is Willie Mae Dean. I am a doctoral student at Lindenwood University, and I am conducting a research study to determine if students listen to personal selected music during independent practice increases student achievement in Algebra I. The title of the study is *Moving Forward with Music to Promote Student Growth*.

The superintendent, XXXX, has given permission for me to conduct this study in the XXXX School District. I would like to invite your Algebra I student to participate in this study by participating in a virtual focus group discussion with other Algebra I students.

I have attached the Research Information Sheet for you to read. If you choose to allow your son or daughter to complete the survey and participate in the focus group, please sign and return the consent form that was supplied by the school counselor.

Please contact me at XXXX or by email at wd506@lindenwood.edu with any questions you might have.

Thank you,

Ms.Willie Mae Dean, Ed.S.

Lindenwood University Doctoral Student

Appendix D

Adult Consent on Behalf of a Minor

LINDENWOOD

Research Study Consent Form

Moving Forward with Music to Promote Student Growth Note: "You" in this form refers to the minor participant. If an activity or requirement refers to the parent or guardian consenting on behalf of the minor, this will be clearly indicated.

Before reading this consent form, please know:

- Your decision to participate is your choice
- You will have time to think about the study
- You will be able to withdraw from this study at any time
- You are free to ask questions about the study at any time

After reading this consent form, we hope that you will know:

- Why we are conducting this study
- What you will be required to do
- What are the possible risks and benefits of the study
- What alternatives are available, if the study involves treatment or therapy
- What to do if you have questions or concerns during the study

Basic information about this study:

- We are interested in learning about influence of music on student achievement.
- Three 9th-grade Algebra1 classes will be selected to participate.
- During independent practice time, one class will be asked to listen to their own music on their own device, one class will listen to music selected by the researcher and played by the teacher aloud in the classroom, and one class listen to no music at all.
- Each class will be randomly selected using the excel random number generator to determine which grouping the class will use
- Data gathered from the beginning of year and middle of year galileo benchmark test will be used to determine if there is a difference between the groups.
- The participating classroom teachers will be asked to select 2 students from their classroom to participate in a focus group discussion with their peers. Criteria for student selection will be that the student had at least a 90% attendance rate and that the student took the benchmark assessments.
- Risks of participation include normal academic days being altered with music and focus groups.

LINDENWOOD

Research Study Consent Form

Moving Forward with Music to Promote Student Growth

You are asked to participate in a research study being conducted by Willie Mae Dean under the guidance of Dr. Shelly Fransen at Lindenwood University. Being in a research study is voluntary, and you are free to stop at any time. Before you choose to participate, you are free to discuss this research study with family, friends, or a physician. Do not feel like you must join this study until all of your questions or concerns are answered. If you decide to participate, you will be asked to sign this form.

Why is this research being conducted?

We are doing this study to research the influence of music on academic achievement and students' perceptions of the effect music has on their performance in Algebra 1 class.

What am I being asked to do?

If you choose to be part of this study,

During independent practice time, your Algebra 1 class will be asked to either listen to their own music on their own device, listen to music selected by the researcher and played by the teacher aloud in the classroom, or listen to no music at all.

Each class will be randomly selected using the excel random number generator to determine which setting the class will be in for the duration of the research. Data gathered from the beginning of year and middle of year Galileo benchmark test will be used to determine if there is a difference between the classes.

The participating classroom teachers will be asked to select 2 students from their classroom to participate in a focus group discussion with their peers. Criteria for student selection will be that the student had at least a 90% attendance rate and that the student took the benchmark assessments.

You may be asked to participate in the focus group discussion with four to six other 9th-grade Algebra 1 students to share your perceptions of the effect music had on your performance in Algebra 1 class.

This will conclude the research for all focus group participants.

This focus group discussion is going to last approximately 45 minutes and then it will be over.

How long will I be in this study?

The study will last about four months beginning with the beginning of year Galileo benchmark assessment and concluding with the middle of year benchmark assessments. This focus group discussion will take place after the last benchmark assessment will last about 45 minutes.

What are the risks of this study?

There will be no harm from this study. We will not be collecting any information that will identify you.

What are the benefits of this study?

The potential benefits are the students being able to recognize the impact of music. Another benefit would be the teachers recognizing the effect music has on student achievement and/or music has on student behaviors.

What if I do not choose to participate in this research?

It is always your choice to participate in this study. You may withdraw at any time. You may choose not to answer any questions or perform tasks that make you uncomfortable. If you decide to withdraw, you will not receive any penalty or loss of benefits. If you would like to withdraw from a study, please use the contact information found at the end of this form.

What if new information becomes available about the study?

During the course of this study, we may find information that could be important to you and your decision to participate in this research. We will notify you as soon as possible if such information becomes available.

How will you keep my information private?

We will do everything we can to protect your privacy. We do not intend to include information that could identify you in any publication or presentation. Any information we collect will be stored by the researcher in a secure location. The only people who will be able to see your data are: members of the research team, qualified staff of Lindenwood University, representatives of state or federal agencies.

How can I withdraw from this study?

Notify the research team immediately if you would like to withdraw from this research study.

Who can I contact with questions or concerns?

If you have any questions about your rights as a participant in this research or concerns about the study, or if you feel under any pressure to enroll or to continue to participate in this study, you may contact the Lindenwood University Institutional Review Board Director, Michael Leary, at (636) 949-4730 or <u>mleary@lindenwood.edu</u>. You can contact the researcher, Willie Mae Dean directly at (314) 370-3135 or wd506@lindenwood.edu. You may also contact Dr. Shelly Fransen at sfransen@lindenwood.edu.

I have read this consent form and have been given the opportunity to ask questions. I will also be given a copy of this consent form for my records. I consent to my participation in the research described above. -

-

Parent or Legally Authorized Representative's Signature	Date
Parent or Legally Authorized Representative's Printed Name	
Signature of Principle Investigator or Designee	Date
Investigator or Designee Printed Name	

Appendix E

Adult Consent Form for Teachers

LINDENWOOD

Research Study Consent Form

Moving Forward with Music to Promote Student Growth

Before reading this consent form, please know:

- Your decision to participate is your choice
- You will have time to think about the study
- You will be able to withdraw from this study at any time
- You are free to ask questions about the study at any time

After reading this consent form, we hope that you will know:

- Why we are conducting this study
- What you will be required to do
- What are the possible risks and benefits of the study
- What alternatives are available, if the study involves treatment or therapy
- What to do if you have questions or concerns during the study

Basic information about this study:

- We are interested in learning about influence of music on student achievement and behavior.
- The study will include three classes randomly assigned to either allow students to listen to their own music on their own devices, students allowed to listen to music selected by the PI played over the classroom speakers, or students listening to no music at all.
- The beginning of year and middle of year galileo benchmark assessment will be used to determine any significant difference in achievement between the three classes.
- A student focus group discussion will be held to gather student perceptions of the experience.
- Participating teachers will be interviewed to gather their perceptions on the effect music had on student behavior in their class.

LINDENWOOD

Research Study Consent Form

Moving Forward with Music to Promote Student Growth

You are asked to participate in a research study being conducted by Willie Mae Dean under the guidance of Dr. Shelly Fransen at Lindenwood University. Being in a research study is voluntary, and you are free to stop at any time. Before you choose to participate, you are free to discuss this research study with family, friends, or a physician. Do not feel like you must join this study until all of your questions or concerns are answered. If you decide to participate, you will be asked to sign this form.

Why is this research being conducted?

We are doing this study to research the influence of music on academic achievement and students' perceptions of the effect music has on their performance in Algebra 1 class. Also, teacher perceptions of students' behavior in Algebra 1 class. We will be asking about 4 to 6 other people to answer these questions.

What am I being asked to do?

- 1. Facilitate one of the three groups.
 - Students allowed to listen to their own music on their own device during independent practice.
 - Students listening to music on the classroom speakers selected by the PI during independent practice.
 - Students listening to no music during independent practice.

A random number generator will be used to determine which group your class will be assigned to.

- 2. Send a participation letter and a parental consent on behalf of a minor form home with students. You will also be asked to collect the signed consent forms and give them to the PI.
- 3. Provide and collect the minor assent forms that you will give to students before the research begins.
- 4. Administer the Algebra 1 Galileo beginning and middle of year benchmark assessments. After the assessments are completed you are being asked to remove the testing data for any students that did not return the parental consent form or failed to sign the minor assent form. You are also being asked to deidentify the data by giving each participating student a numeric code. Once the data has been deidentified you are being asked to email the PI the deidentified data
- 5. Participate in an interview.
- 6. Finally, you are being asked to select two students from your class to participate in a focus group discussion. Students will be selected using

the following 2 criteria; participants must have at least 90% attendance during the study and have taken both benchmark assessments.

How long will I be in this study?

This study is going to last approximately four months and then it will be over.

What are the risks of this study?

There will be no harm from this study. The only potential risk is that participants normal day of school does not require teacher interview.

We will not be collecting any information that will identify you.

What are the benefits of this study?

The potential benefits are the students being able to recognize the impact of music. Another benefit would be the teachers recognizing a correlation between music and student achievement and/or music and behaviors.

What if I do not choose to participate in this research?

It is always your choice to participate in this study. You may withdraw at any time. You may choose not to answer any questions or perform tasks that make you uncomfortable. If you decide to withdraw, you will not receive any penalty or loss of benefits. If you would like to withdraw from a study, please use the contact information found at the end of this form.

What if new information becomes available about the study?

During the course of this study, we may find information that could be important to you and your decision to participate in this research. We will notify you as soon as possible if such information becomes available.

How will you keep my information private?

We will do everything we can to protect your privacy. We do not intend to include information that could identify you in any publication or presentation. Any information we collect will be stored by the researcher in a secure location. The only people who will be able to see your data are: members of the research team, qualified staff of Lindenwood University, representatives of state or federal agencies.

How can I withdraw from this study?

Notify the research team immediately if you would like to withdraw from this research study.

Who can I contact with questions or concerns?

If you have any questions about your rights as a participant in this research or concerns about the study, or if you feel under any pressure to enroll or to continue to participate in this study, you may contact the Lindenwood University Institutional Review Board Director, Michael Leary, at (636) 949-4730 or <u>mleary@lindenwood.edu</u>. You can contact the researcher, Willie Mae Dean

directly at XXXX or wd506@lindenwood.edu. You may also contact Dr. Shelly Fransen at sfransen@lindenwood.edu.

I have read this consent form and have been given the opportunity to ask questions. I will also be given a copy of this consent form for my records. I consent to my participation in the research described above by participating in the interview.

Appendix F

Teacher Interview Questions

- 1. In what ways if any do you feel teacher-selected music for students to listen to while completing independent work might make an impact on student behavior?
- 2. Do you think students listening to their own selection music during independent practice improved their accuracy on class assignments? Why or Why not?
- 3. In what ways do you feel students listening to their own selection of music during independent practice might improve their behavior in class?
- 4. How do you feel each of the following strategies will affect students' classroom behavior?
 - A. Teacher-selected music during independent practice.
 - B. Student-selected music during independent practice.
 - C. No music at all during independent practice.
- 5. In what ways do you feel music might be a distraction during independent practice?
- 6. During the implementation period of this study, do you feel your written referrals have increased, decreased, or stayed about the same? And why?
- 7. What other benefits did you observe as a result of utilizing music in the classroom during independent practice?

Appendix G

Letter of Participation for Focus Group Discussion

Date: XXXXXX

Dear Student,

My name is Willie Mae Dean, and I am requesting your participation in my doctoral dissertation research project at Lindenwood University. The study is entitled *Moving Forward with Music to Promote Student Growth*. Participants will be asked to complete a 45-minute focus group discussion. We are conducting this study to identify if the students feel implementing music of their choice has a positive or negative impact on their academics.

I have been granted permission to conduct research in the XXXX Public School District and by your parents or guardian. In order to conduct my research, I would like to invite you to participate in a focus group discussion with your peers. The discussion should take 45 minutes or less to complete.

Your participation in this research study is voluntary, and you may withdraw at any time. All information obtained through this research will be reported anonymously. Data codes or pseudonyms will be used to lessen the possibility of identifying focus group participants. You will indicate consent by participating in the interviews and signing an informed consent form provided on the day of the focus group discussion.

Thank you in advance to those willing to participate and support this study. I hope the results of this study will identify a correlation between music, student growth and students' choice. If you have questions, you can contact me at wd506@Lindenwood.edu. Dr. Shelly Fransen, the dissertation chair for this research project, may be contacted at sfransen@lindenwood.edu.

Thank you for your time,

Willie Mae Dean, Ed. S. Doctoral Candidate Lindenwood University

Appendix H

Minor Assent Form

LINDENWOOD

What is research?

We are going to do a research study. A research study is when a researcher or doctor collects information to learn more about something. During this research study, we are going to learn more about the influence of music on academic achievement and students' perceptions of the effect's music has on their performance in Algebra 1 class. Also, teacher perceptions of students 'behavior in Algebra 1 class. After we tell you more about this study, we would like to ask you about being part of it.

We are asking 75 to 90 people to be a part of this study.

What will you ask me to do?

If you choose to be part of this study,

During independent practice time, your Algebra 1 class will be asked to either listen to their own music on their own device, listen to music selected by the researcher and played by the teacher aloud in the classroom, or listen to no music at all.

Each class will be randomly selected using the excel random number generator to determine which setting the class will be in for the duration of the research. Data gathered from the beginning of year and middle of year Galileo benchmark test will be used to determine if there is a difference between the classes.

The participating classroom teachers will be asked to select 2 students from their classroom to participate in a focus group discussion with their peers. Criteria for student selection will be that the student had at least a 90% attendance rate and that the student took the benchmark assessments.

You may be asked to participate in the focus group discussion with four to six other 9th-grade Algebra 1 students to share your perceptions of the effect music had on your performance in Algebra 1 class.

This will conclude the research for all focus group participants.

This focus group discussion is going to last approximately 45 minutes and then it will be over.

Will I be harmed during this study?

There will be no harm from this study.

Will I benefit from being in this study?

The impact the research will have on instructional practices and student learning will be phenomenal. I would anticipate that if the data proved that a certain genre of music improved student engagement, accuracy, achievement, and behavior, educators could improve student learning and close the achievement gap.

A direct benefit is the students being able to recognize the impact of music. Another benefit would be the teachers recognizing a correlation between music and student achievement and/or music and behaviors.

Do I have to be in this research?

No, you do not. If you do not want to be in this research study, just tell us. You can also tell us later if you do not want to be part of it anymore. No one will be mad at you, and you can talk to us at any time if you are nervous.

What if I have questions?

You can ask us questions right now about the research study. You can ask questions later if you want to. You can also talk to someone else about the study if you want to. And you can change your mind at any time. Being in this research study is up to you.

If you want to be in this research study, just tell us. Or, you can sign your name in the blank below. We will give you a copy of this form to keep.

Minor Participant's Signature	Date
Minor Participant's Printed Name	
Signature of Principle Investigator or Designee	Date
Investigator or Designee Printed Name	
Appendix I

Student Focus Group Questions

- 1. How do you feel about having a choice in how you learn in the classroom?
- 2. Do you think listening to your own selected music during independent practice improved your accuracy on class assignments?
- 3. Do you feel listening to your own selected music during independent practice improved your behavior? Why or why not?
- 4. How do you feel each of the following strategies will affect achievement on classroom assignments and which do you feel is the most effective for you?
 - A. Teacher-selected music during independent practice.
 - B. Student-selected music during independent practice.
 - C. No music at all during independent practice.
- 5. In what ways do you feel music might become a distraction during independent practice?

Vita

Willie Mae Dean was born in Centreville, Illinois on June 1, 1969. She graduated with honors from Cahokia High School in 1989. She obtained her Undergraduate Degree in Behavioral Science from National Louis University in 1999, her Master's in Special Education from Fontbonne University in 2006, and her Educational Specialist Degree in leadership from Webster University in 2019.

Willie Mae has worked with children and families for the past 27 years. While attending school she has worked the past 15 years with Special School District in Ferguson Florissant as a teacher. She will start a new journey as an Area Coordinator in the Hazelwood School District for the 2023–2024 school year.